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          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Good afternoon,

          3  and welcome to this afternoon's Park and Recreation

          4  Committee hearing. My name is Joseph Addabbo, 32nd

          5  District in Queens, and I am the Chair of the Parks

          6  and Recreation Committee and I welcome you all here

          7  today. Today the Parks and Recreation Committee will

          8  hear testimony as to the merits of Intro. 160, which

          9  is to amend the Administrative Code of the City of

         10  New York in order to clarify the express authority

         11  of the Commissioner of Parks and Recreation to

         12  regulate the vending of written matter within the

         13  geographical areas under the jurisdiction of the

         14  Department of Parks and Recreation.

         15                 Today will be the first hearing, the

         16  first public hearing of Intro. 160, and the City

         17  Council nor this Committee will be taking a formal

         18  position as to the merits of the proposed

         19  legislation. This is merely a hearing, there is no

         20  vote. A vote will be at a future date, if possible,

         21  but this is merely a hearing, the first of its kind

         22  for this Intro.

         23                 We will fairly evaluated testimony

         24  that will seek to balance the interest of the public

         25  to safely enjoy the resources of the parks with the
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          2  rights of the vendors of written matter.

          3                 At this point I'm going to introduce

          4  the Committee members who are here. To my right we

          5  have Council Member Robert Jackson, we next have

          6  Council Member Gale Brewer. To my left we have

          7  Council Member Alan Gerson, and I'll be introducing

          8  other Council members as they attend the meeting.

          9                 I want to thank our staff. To my

         10  right here is Tom Curry, he is our legal counsel. I

         11  also would like to thank Jeff Haberman, Frank Neely

         12  and Chima Obichere for their help today.

         13                 We will be swearing in all witnesses

         14  today, so you'll be sworn in before you give your

         15  testimony, then just state your name and then give

         16  your testimony.

         17                 We will start off with the

         18  Administration for the City of New York and then go

         19  on to the-- those who had signed up, we are still

         20  taking names for anybody who still wants to sign up

         21  who will come late. We can still sign you up to give

         22  testimony. So, at this point I also want to make a

         23  note, the only way you lose your right to give

         24  testimony is if you become unorderly. We want to

         25  make sure that this hearing is done in an orderly
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          2  fashion, so we ask for your politeness, okay, and

          3  professionalism here today. By all means, if we get

          4  through that we will have a great public hearing on

          5  this Intro. 160.

          6                 At this point I'm going to introduce

          7  our first panel to the Commissioner for the

          8  Department of Parks and Recreation, Commissioner

          9  Adrian Benepe.

         10                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Commissioner,

         11  please raise your right hand.

         12                 Do you swear or affirm to tell the

         13  truth?

         14                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: I do.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Good afternoon.

         16                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Good afternoon.

         17                 Okay, good afternoon, Chairman

         18  Addabbo, and Council Members Brewer, Gerson, Jackson

         19  and now Foster. It's a pleasure to be here again

         20  with you in a meeting of the Parks Committee and

         21  proud to say that for the first time ever there is a

         22  Parks Committee just for parks, and as much as we

         23  like cultural affairs and libraries, they deserve

         24  their own Committee and we're happy to have that.

         25                 I also want to say, it's great that
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          2  you can have a conversation on a cold day in January

          3  about parks and you fill the room. So, we're always

          4  heartened when we see big turnouts on hearings, but

          5  anything related to parks and recreation.

          6                 I'm pleased to see the members of the

          7  Parks Committee, friends of parks, other interested

          8  parties, vendors, artists, everybody is coming out.

          9  Just here with me at the table is our general

         10  counsel Alesandra Oliveri, here on my right; and on

         11  my left, Assistant Commissioner Jack Linn. Also

         12  joining us today is Assistant Commissioner for

         13  Community Relations, Ed Lewis; Assistant

         14  Commissioner for Revenue, Jeronimo Heson, behind me;

         15  also from our staff Mora Haggerty and Chris Oscard.

         16                 Thank you for giving us this

         17  opportunity. We're pleased to have this opportunity

         18  to come before you to discuss Intro. 160, an

         19  important bill that will improve the quality of life

         20  in our parks.

         21                 Just to recapitulate, Intro. 160 is a

         22  clarification of the Administrative Code as

         23  originally amended by Intro. 33 in 1982, by your

         24  colleagues and predecessors, which you'll hear more

         25  about. Intro. 160 will restore parks ability to
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          2  regulate vending on park land as originally intended

          3  by the City Council through a permitting process.

          4                 Of late, there's been confusion about

          5  this bill and, frankly, a lot more heat than light,

          6  and about its potential impact. We're here to try to

          7  shed some light on that. A lot of the speakers

          8  following me will discuss the various issues, where

          9  vendors should be located, what a vendor is, how a

         10  spot should be chosen and even how you define art.

         11                 These are all important issues, and

         12  ones that are perhaps worthy of another hearing, but

         13  these are separate from the discussion of this bill.

         14                 The only issue, as far as we're

         15  concerned, raised by this bill, is whether Parks and

         16  Recreation will have the authority to regulate the

         17  commercial sale of art and related merchandise in

         18  parks. The passage of this bill is only step one of

         19  a two-step process.

         20                 Step one, this bill restores the

         21  Parks Department's authority as intended by the City

         22  Council, and paves the way for a permitting process.

         23                 Step two, which will be the creation

         24  of that permitting system will require subsequent

         25  and separate public review.
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          2                 Today, to keep the focus on a bill,

          3  we'll outline the current situation, and the quality

          4  of life problems created by a judicial misreading of

          5  the intention of the original bill. And we'll

          6  discuss why a permitting system would be the best

          7  way to address these problems.

          8                 After giving my testimony, we look

          9  forward to your questions.

         10                 The current situation is that in a

         11  City as densely populated as New York, parkland will

         12  always be a valuable commodity. As the condition of

         13  our parks improves, more people want to use them.

         14  Consequently, the most difficult and essential task

         15  of the Parks Department is to balance competing

         16  demands for the use of scarce parkland. This is

         17  something we deal with every day.

         18                 There has been over the last few

         19  years a surge in the demand for space to sell art

         20  and other merchandise in a few highly traffic park

         21  areas.

         22                 This increase may have gone unnoticed

         23  by New Yorkers, but to people who are responsible

         24  for ensuring that parks are safe, accessible to as

         25  many people as possible, the increase has been
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          2  obvious.

          3                 I should state here for the record

          4  the impact is not entirely negative. Much has been

          5  made of the fact that I, too, was once a park

          6  vendor, and let me just set the record straight

          7  since I was sworn in, I did not sell hotdogs. I sold

          8  healthful soups and fruit bread to people in Central

          9  Park many years ago, the summer of 1976, but I was

         10  never a hotdog vendor.

         11                 Also, I am also an artist, and I come

         12  from a family of visual artists, and from both those

         13  points of view, I appreciate the value of vendors in

         14  parks, and appreciate the life and creativity that

         15  artists bring to the City and its parks.

         16                 Now, the Parks Department has been

         17  described by some as anti-artists, and anti-art.

         18  This is non-sensical and offensive, as several

         19  leaders of the art world will testify.

         20                 As the concentrations of vendors have

         21  increased, so have the problems, and here is the

         22  crux of the issue. Areas of parks are no longer

         23  easily accessible by emergency vehicles. As you will

         24  probably hear from the Central Park Medical Unit.

         25  Benches for public use have become barricaded, as
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          2  you can see in some of these pictures over here. For

          3  instance, on the left-hand picture you can see where

          4  a vendor has taken over an entire bench for his

          5  artwork, and you also see how in some areas of parks

          6  you have a double row of vendors forcing pedestrians

          7  into a narrow channel in between them, and creating

          8  crowded conditions. This is really a mild picture

          9  compared to some of the more crowded conditions.

         10                 Monuments, the City's civic

         11  monuments, such as the main monuments and the ones

         12  seen here to Simone Bolivar are frequently obscured

         13  by commercial stalls. Also illustrated in these

         14  larger pictures and the pact that you have in front

         15  of you, along with the use of the historic park

         16  walls in certain parks as shelfs for display of

         17  merchandise.

         18                 On a summer afternoon, it is not

         19  unusual to see 50 or so vendors lining a single park

         20  path, forcing pedestrians to walk a gauntlet already

         21  congested by visitors with strollers or walking

         22  their dogs.

         23                 On weekend mornings, box trucks roll

         24  down Fifth Avenue, dropping off tables and boxes of

         25  reprinted photographs, and business operators jockey
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          2  (sic) for prime space.

          3                 The experience of a patron visiting

          4  some of the most majestic urban park spaces in the

          5  nation has become defined by vending.

          6                 Areas in front of the Metropolitan

          7  Museum, Columbus Circle, Grand Army Plaza, Weenwalk

          8  and the Battery have become commercial bazaars.

          9                 Currently we have some ability to

         10  regulate in parks the vending of art, which falls

         11  under the overall rubric of written matter.

         12                 Yet, the existing rules are

         13  inadequate for three main reasons.

         14                 First, in some areas the rules are

         15  insufficient to address problems that have

         16  developed. Vendors are blocking vistas of flower

         17  beds, gardens, landscapes and monuments and other

         18  works of art in our parks.

         19                 In some areas, the issue has expanded

         20  beyond how people are vending to how many people are

         21  vending. We do not have a system to bring order to

         22  this congestion and to restore safe and easy

         23  pedestrian access to the parks.

         24                 Second, the self-described so-called

         25  "confrontational advocacy" by some vendors has
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          2  frankly made the imposition of existing frequently

          3  an adversarial and occasionally fruitless exercise.

          4                 Finally, with the increase in the

          5  number of vendors, we would need to assign

          6  additional staff to monitor vending. That additional

          7  staff is needed more, though, to keep parks safe. It

          8  would be fiscally irresponsible to dedicate scarce

          9  enforcement personnel to babysitting vendors, when a

         10  bill, this bill, can have the same enforcement

         11  impact at no cost to the City.

         12                 For all these reasons we seek to

         13  recreate a permit system for the vending and parks

         14  of art. We know this will work because it had a

         15  permitting system in the past, and it was effective

         16  in addressing these issues.

         17                 To reestablish this permitting system

         18  we will need to pass this bill amending the 1982 law

         19  passed by the City Council.

         20                 There has been some confusion about

         21  the intent of the 1982 law. To speak to that will be

         22  the author of that bill, Ed Wallace, as well as

         23  three other former members of the City Council who

         24  are sponsors of that bill, Stanley Michels, Robert

         25  Dryfoos, and my predecessor as Parks Commissioner
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          2  Henry Stern.

          3                 Similarly, there have been claims

          4  that any permitting system would be

          5  unconstitutional. That is simply wrong. We issue

          6  permits for the use of our land in order to keep the

          7  competition for space fair and peaceful, and to keep

          8  public property safe from damage. We issue permits

          9  for baseball games and for protests because two

         10  games or two protests cannot take place on the same

         11  field at the same time.

         12                 Permitting systems create

         13  coordination in situations where there could be

         14  conflict. The highest courts of the land have

         15  consistently recognized the need for municipalities

         16  to do this by allowing us to regulate the time,

         17  place and manner of activities protected by the

         18  First Amendment.

         19                 Those rights of municipalities have

         20  consistently been upheld, including a case involving

         21  a Chicago park permitting policy, permitting for

         22  vending is still a legal issue, though. One judge

         23  was addressing the City's ability to regulate the

         24  vending for art work, believed that the

         25  Administrative Code was not sufficiently clear to
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          2  grant authority to the Parks Department for this

          3  vending. And I want to be very clear on this point.

          4  He did not determine that a permitting system would

          5  be unconstitutional. Intro. 160 simply clarifies the

          6  Parks Department's authority.

          7                 Now, despite what the courts have

          8  ruled in other areas, there will be those who will

          9  try to say that this bill will unlawfully restrict

         10  free speech.

         11                 Now, I got a copy of a letter the

         12  other day that was sent to some of the City Council

         13  members from Ralph Ginzberg. Some of you may

         14  remember Ralph Ginzberg as a magazine publisher, and

         15  legendary defender, free speech.

         16                 I spoke to him and he asked me to

         17  read a letter from him addressed to the Council at

         18  this hearing, and he wrote, in a brief letter, "I

         19  have spent my career battling for freedom of

         20  expression for artists, even to the point of my

         21  imprisonment stemming from an historic US Supreme

         22  Court free speech case." He continues to write, "I

         23  urge you to support Intro. 160. Hucksters now

         24  peddling wares on park property are in the name not

         25  artists at all, by cynical entrepreneurs who are
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          2  actually endangering the freedom of artists." A

          3  direct quote from his letter.

          4                 This bill will help us to support

          5  artists who are important players in what makes our

          6  City and our parks lively. Our parks have the

          7  largest municipal arts collection in the nation. We

          8  are home to Summer Stage, one of the City's most

          9  successful concert venues for merging artists, as

         10  well as dozens of other music and art events, and we

         11  play host to countless other parades and protests,

         12  such as the large anti-war rally in Central Park

         13  this past fall.

         14                 More typically, though, the

         15  expression of ideas does not come at such a grand

         16  level. Instead it is sketch artists and Ween Walk in

         17  Central Park, there's a violinist at Bethesda

         18  Fountain, it's the emerging sculptor showing their

         19  work outdoors, through the Public Art Fund, or the

         20  muralist working with the City Arts Workshop or with

         21  one of our after school programs that add color to

         22  the urban landscape.

         23                 For those whose contributions, the

         24  sale of art in parks, Intro. 160 would restore our

         25  authority to coordinate their activities better.
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          2                 While Intro. 160 does not establish

          3  that system, we do have some general principles we'd

          4  like to suggest.

          5                 First, we would use a lottery system

          6  to determine the allocation of vending spaces, as

          7  had been shown in the past, this is the fairest

          8  method.

          9                 Second, we would solicit suggestions

         10  for artists for new park areas in which to permit

         11  the sale of art.

         12                 Third, we would ask that artists pay

         13  only a nominal administrative fee as we require for

         14  all permits, special event permits, ballfield

         15  permits, et cetera.

         16                 In the past this fee has been $25.

         17  This would not be a precursor to a concession

         18  system, though many New Yorkers would think it

         19  perfectly appropriate for all people doing business

         20  in public property to pay the City for that

         21  privilege.

         22                 Fourth, you would design a system

         23  with the assistance of the Law Department and

         24  artists that would be as supportive of the sale of

         25  original art, as is constitutionally permissible.
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          2                 There are cities, such as San

          3  Francisco, that cares much about the First Amendment

          4  as they do art, and they have figured out a way to

          5  do this.

          6                 Finally, and most importantly, we

          7  would work with all interested parties to create

          8  this system, including artists, vendors, civic and

          9  park groups, Business Improvement Districts,

         10  community residents, and the City Council.

         11                 Again, though, that's a second step.

         12  The permitting system would not be decided by the

         13  passage of this bill.

         14                 In conclusion, the issue before the

         15  Council today is the first step. The authorizing

         16  legislation that would restore the authority of the

         17  Parks Department to manage commercial vending on

         18  public land through a permitting process. We urge

         19  your support of this quality of life measure, and

         20  welcome your questions.

         21                 Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,

         23  Commissioner.

         24                 I just want to acknowledge those

         25  members who arrived while you were giving your
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          2  testimony. We have Council Member Eric Dilan,

          3  Council Member Jose Serrano, we were visited by

          4  Council Member Kendall Stewart who will be back,

          5  Council Member Helen Foster was here, she had to

          6  leave.

          7                 Okay, before I go to questions from

          8  my Committee members, just a couple questions that I

          9  have.

         10                 Commissioner, you feel there's a need

         11  for Intro. 160 to be, not only heard today but

         12  obviously at some point being passed because you

         13  have seen, in your professional opinion you have

         14  seen an increase in vendors over recent times?

         15                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: No question,

         16  there's been an increase in vendors, as much as 50

         17  percent in the last few years, and it creates issues

         18  for both public health, safety and welfare, and

         19  congestion and both perimeters of parks and ensure

         20  pathways blocking of landscapes and monuments, a

         21  legitimate public safety issue for moving police or

         22  ambulance through crowds, and the overall issue of

         23  taking the park experience and turning it over to

         24  private bizaars.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: The overall
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          2  permit system, or lottery system that has been

          3  proposed, obviously is one of the major hurdles for

          4  160; how many spaces is the City looking to give out

          5  to the permit system, as compared to the amount of

          6  vendors?

          7                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: That's something

          8  that will be determined in the next process. I think

          9  we have to get through 160 and then go through a

         10  whole different process to look at the spaces. It

         11  may be that the total number of spaces may be the

         12  same, may be slightly less, may be slightly more. It

         13  really all depends, and we'll be looking for

         14  suggestions as to new locations.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: And other than

         16  the lottery system, any other standard used when

         17  using the permit system to determine which vendors

         18  get the permit, which don't?

         19                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: It's a big and

         20  open question. We have heard from a number of

         21  original artists that they would like to have a

         22  number of spots set aside for original art. In

         23  certain municipalities only original artists may do

         24  business in public property.

         25                 Of course, we would look to
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          2  Corporation Counsel and others to try to evaluate

          3  beforehand the constitutionality of defining

          4  creative speech and commercial speech separately. As

          5  we know, with the news racks, this can be a tricky

          6  issue.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: I think the word

          8  defining is a key word. What would be the definition

          9  of original art, and who would determine that.

         10                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: You know, that's

         11  why it's a tricky issue, probably not something

         12  we're equipped to speak about today. But we've heard

         13  from many artists that we should do that. It's

         14  easily something that could occupy a lot of thought.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Any questions

         16  from any of my members?

         17                 Council Member Gale Brewer.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you. I

         19  have a couple of questions, Adrian.

         20                 First of all, the sidewalks on both

         21  sides of the park, is that part of the park? Is that

         22  considered part of this bill?

         23                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: If you're

         24  talking about the perimeters of the sidewalks. The

         25  perimeters, for example, in Central Park, as you're
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          2  walking down, say the west side of Fifth Avenue,

          3  yes, it's part of the parks. We clean the snow on

          4  those sidewalks, we repair those sidewalks,  we

          5  plant the trees in those sidewalks, and they're

          6  designed in many cases to be part of the park

          7  experience.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay, so this

          9  bill would be applicable to those parks because they

         10  are part of the parks.

         11                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: They are and

         12  always have been.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         14                 Now, currently, under the current

         15  law, why is it that we can't issue summonses or

         16  clean the benches? Is there some restriction as to

         17  how long a table can be or a set of artwork

         18  currently?

         19                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Well, this is

         20  sort of the crux of the issue. There are

         21  restrictions is sections 2465 of the Administrative

         22  Code, which were developed primarily for street

         23  vending and did not easily lend themselves to parks.

         24                 So, for example, Subsection E states

         25  that no vending shall take place "within any bus
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          2  stop or taxi stand." That's not as much of an issue

          3  for us.

          4                 Subsection M prohibits vending over

          5  any ventilation grill, cellar door, manhole,

          6  transformer vault or subway access grading. Again,

          7  these provisos were looked at in terms of street

          8  vending. The few restrictions actually apply to open

          9  space and that we can, of course, deal with size

         10  limitations on a vendor's table and displays, and

         11  they do little to help us in terms of regulating

         12  congestion.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Eight by three

         14  by five or something.

         15                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: If you have 58

         16  by 3 by 5 tables in the narrow pathway, it's nothing

         17  prescribed or proscribed in the law.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         19                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: And, frankly,

         20  our few PEP officers are going to be spending, we

         21  hope, more of their time working on real public

         22  safety issues, and not haggling and hassling with

         23  vendors about, you know, where the table is set up.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: What about the

         25  book vendors? The ones that I see are obviously on
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          2  Fifth Avenue; would this be applicable, the permit

          3  system, for them, as well?

          4                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Some of the book

          5  vendors on Fifth Avenue are in fact park

          6  concessionaires, who are paying a fee to the general

          7  fund which pays for things like teachers and

          8  firefighters and police officers.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay, so they

         10  would not be part of this process, because they're

         11  already part of the permit process?

         12                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Well, they're

         13  permitted there.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         15                 And the other question is, would

         16  there be a distinction between the sidewalk, maybe

         17  this will be -- decide the vendors, and those in the

         18  park itself; do you see down the line some

         19  distinction between those two?

         20                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: It's a slippery

         21  slope, because a lot of the problem is in fact on

         22  the perimeters, the sidewalk in front of the

         23  Metropolitan Museum of Art is really part of the

         24  park experience. The sidewalks at Columbus Circle

         25  and at Grand Army Plaza are part of the park
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          2  experience. But that's really a phase two question.

          3  I think there will be a long and healthy debate as

          4  to where and how and how many spots and try to come

          5  up with some happy medium.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you, Mr.

          7  Chairman. I may have more later.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,

          9  Council Member Brewer.

         10                 Council Member Robert Jackson.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you,

         12  Mr. Chair.

         13                 Good afternoon, Commissioner. This is

         14  a very hot subject as seen by so many people in this

         15  room, and as I met with you and your staff and

         16  discussed and given me your viewpoints on this

         17  particular matter, and also I met with one of the

         18  advocates that want us as a Council to vote no on

         19  this Intro. 160. So, I had the opportunity to listen

         20  to him and his feelings about this and he gave me

         21  information about court suits that were brought in

         22  the past and all of the litigation behind this, and

         23  I'm concerned. I'm concerned about our park not

         24  being flooded to the point where people are having

         25  difficulty walking or sitting, and, you know, in
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          2  essence being too overcrowded with vendors. And on

          3  the other hand, I want to make sure that everyone

          4  has the right under the law to carry out whatever

          5  they want to do, that's important to me also.

          6                 Now, you described that what the

          7  problem is and your perspective, but I would like to

          8  hear more specific information, you indicated that

          9  San Francisco passed and there's other

         10  municipalities, do you have any information on the

         11  San Francisco experience, or the law, and have you

         12  given -- does Council have information on that? Can

         13  you explain what the San Francisco law basically

         14  lays out?

         15                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Just that I

         16  really don't know enough about it to speak at this,

         17  but we can provide the information and do the some

         18  research and get you -- a number of municipalities

         19  grapple with this issue and have different ways of

         20  looking at it. I think one question would be, you

         21  know, what has the experience been in those

         22  municipalities, how big is the problem, how the

         23  courts ruled there, what are the legal decisions

         24  that are germane there?

         25                 Just the little bit that we do know
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          2  is that they, in some cases they permit original

          3  artists only, so the vendor of reprints would not be

          4  allowed to set up shop. We don't know whether that

          5  would pass muster constitutionally. This is

          6  something that requires further exploration.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Do you have

          8  any other municipalities, or does your counsel have

          9  any other municipalities that have passed laws, or

         10  does our counsel have all of that information? San

         11  Francisco and, you know, any other municipalities?

         12                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: I think the

         13  issue is that, what's germane to this group is that

         14  all of those cities have a permitting system. It

         15  seems to be okay. It's not a question of which kind

         16  or how they do it, the fact that permitting systems

         17  exist and they exist constitutionally.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And I

         19  understand that.

         20                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: What we will do,

         21  Council Member Jackson, is whatever information we

         22  now have we have to turn over to whatever we would

         23  get in the future and work with your legal staff of

         24  finding stuff.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes, that's
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          2  important in order for me, as a Council member, in

          3  looking at this whole situation, other

          4  municipalities have laws and, you know, I want to

          5  see what their laws are and how long they've been in

          6  place and what type of system they have in place.

          7                 Now, you described what the problem

          8  is, now, what about, can you describe whether or not

          9  that's continuous all year around, or is it only

         10  during, for example, the spring and the summertime,

         11  and where specifically? Is this only Central Park,

         12  or is it at other locations? Is the problem, for

         13  example, only in the mornings when they're setting

         14  up, or is it continuous throughout the day, or is it

         15  during the peak times of usage of the park? Can you

         16  be a little more detailed, if you can?

         17                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Sure. It tends

         18  to be, as you can intuit, in the places that have

         19  the most pedestrian traffic.

         20                 So, in other words, the places are

         21  busiest and have the most congestion, attract the

         22  most vendors, and thus increase the congestion, it's

         23  sort of almost like a self-fulfilling prophecy. The

         24  vendors go where the people are. So, it's the high,

         25  the very high volume traffic areas, where primarily
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          2  tourists and visitors go, we're likely to purchase

          3  this type of merchandise, Battery Park, for example,

          4  the south end of Central Park, near the Central Park

          5  Zoo, in front of the Metropolitan Museum.

          6                 But there would be nothing, under the

          7  current guidelines there would be nothing to stop

          8  vendors from setting up in any park, there are no

          9  restrictions of any kind.

         10                 So, any park you could think of, or

         11  park property, could be, this merchandise could be

         12  sold and under the current guidelines.

         13                 What we'd like to do is sort of come

         14  up with a reasonable universe, and we, frankly,

         15  would be inclined to look beyond the usual suspects

         16  for places where artists could set up and sell.

         17                 What we want to avoid is the crush,

         18  the danger of crush of people, that is exacerbated

         19  by the concentration of vendors.

         20                 And as to when it takes place, it's a

         21  year-round activity, obviously it's more crowded

         22  when the weather is warm. If the temperature were to

         23  go up to 45 degrees tomorrow, it would be out there

         24  tomorrow. And it's primarily spring, summer, fall,

         25  but it's easily nine months out of the year, and
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          2  reaches sort of its peak, say when the temperature

          3  is above 60 degrees.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: What about

          5  time? I mean, is the time frame, the problem mainly

          6  is when they're setting up and people are --

          7                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: No, the time is

          8  the biggest problem where the parks are most

          9  congested, say busy weekends, afternoons. Setting up

         10  is one issue, that happens in the morning. Again,

         11  these are many cases, businesses that have trucks

         12  pull up and they have merchants who sell this mass

         13  produced merchandise, and they pull up and they set

         14  up tables, and there is a jockeying for space.

         15                 Artists have complained to us that

         16  they are pushed out of the prime spaces because

         17  they're businesses that can afford to send out 20

         18  vendors and sell the same merchandise. It's a tricky

         19  issue.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: With respect

         21  to one of the advocates said to me that there's

         22  current regulations that you have that are not being

         23  enforced and if, in fact, the current regulations

         24  that you had were enforced, many or some of the

         25  problems that exist will not exist; can you comment
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          2  on that?

          3                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: I guess I would

          4  answer that question with a question, if you don't

          5  mind, Council Member Jackson.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: No, I don't

          7  mind.

          8                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Okay, if we have

          9  six or eight PEP officers on duty for the Borough of

         10  Manhattan, should we devote those scarce resources

         11  every day to settling boundary disputes between

         12  vendors, or in the districts protecting the parks?

         13                 Even if we could do that, devote

         14  those resources, there aren't, the rules are not on

         15  the book to allow us to say this is too congested.

         16  All we really have the ability to do is say you're

         17  blocking an entrance, you have to move. That's the

         18  extent of our ability to regulate.

         19                 We have effectively no ability to

         20  regulate under the current guidelines, it was taken

         21  away by what we believe was a judge's misreading, or

         22  failure to understand the intent of Intro. 33.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Did it go to

         24  the highest court, as far as in the appeal process?

         25  I would assume that your legal staff didn't appeal

                                                            33

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  that judge's decision?

          3                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: I'd like to ask

          4  our general counsel to answer that question.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

          6                 MR. OLIVERI: Yes, it was the district

          7  court who made that original ruling, and the case is

          8  on appeal for the second circuit.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Sorry, say

         10  that again.

         11                 MR. OLIVERI: The case is on appeal

         12  for the second circuit.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: It's

         14  currently on appeal.

         15                 MR. OLIVERI: Correct.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And how long

         17  ago was that initial ruling?

         18                 MR. OLIVERI: The initial ruling I

         19  believe is in August of 2001, and the 2nd Circuit

         20  heard the appeal in October of '02.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Of '02. So,

         22  it has heard the case, so it has not yet rendered a

         23  decision as of yet; is that correct?

         24                 MR. OLIVERI: Correct.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay. And the

                                                            34

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  arguments that you put forward in your appeal are

          3  basically what the Commissioner has stated in his

          4  opening statement? Or is there anything more

          5  specific that we should be aware of as a Committee?

          6                 MR. OLIVERI: The Commissioner has

          7  essentially addressed the issues, the key one being

          8  it was decided on the grounds of interpreting the

          9  statute, rather than on First Amendment grounds.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay. That's

         11  all for now, Mr. Chair. And I'll come back a little

         12  later.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,

         14  Council Member Jackson, Council Member Dilan.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Thank you, Mr.

         16  Chairman. Mr. Commissioner, it was good to see you

         17  again.

         18                 I would like to gear my questioning

         19  towards the general vendors section of the New York

         20  City Charter.

         21                 Under the general vendor's code, why

         22  can't the current restrictions in Title 20 allow, or

         23  the current provisions allow the Department to

         24  control the vendors and artists.

         25                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: That's an
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          2  important question. I'm glad you asked it. It's

          3  worth going into some detail.

          4                 The current provisions deal with

          5  street situations, not with parks. They deal with

          6  such things as bus stops, taxi stands, ventilation

          7  grills, cellar doors, manholes, transformer vaults,

          8  subway access gratings, where they prohibit the

          9  setting up of vendors in or near those types of

         10  street furniture, these don't apply to parks. That

         11  is why, in our opinion, you very specifically, this

         12  body, when it passed Intro. 33 in 1982, very

         13  specifically said nothing herein shall prevent the

         14  Parks Department from regulating this activity.

         15                 Because we understood that parks were

         16  inherently different from streets, that you go to

         17  parks for a bucolic experience, for a different kind

         18  of experience, and that unregulated vending changes

         19  that experience, and makes it more difficult for the

         20  taxpayers to enjoy the parks.

         21                 And as I explained before, even

         22  though we can say, for example, to a vendor, you're

         23  blocking this entrance into the park, we cannot

         24  regulate the numbers, so if there are 65 vendors

         25  located in one path along both sides of the path,
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          2  there's nothing written that says there's such a

          3  thing as too many vendors. What we'd like to do is

          4  have a permitting system that would say here are the

          5  spots.

          6                 So, as a vendor you go in, you go to

          7  the lottery, you get your spot. You know where your

          8  spot is every morning, you don't have to worry that

          9  someone else is going to take it.

         10                 This gives a real sense of security,

         11  I would believe, to many vendors, particularly to

         12  original artists who can't compete with the

         13  businesses that are setting up.

         14                 In addition, even if we had all these

         15  little regulations that we can enforce, it creates a

         16  confrontational experience. It drains our staffing,

         17  that every time we try to say this table belongs six

         18  feet over here, it's harassment, or, you know, they

         19  say all kinds of things about the PEP officers.

         20                 As you know, with 28,000 of

         21  parklands, and given the budgetary realities, it

         22  would be wrong to take our few enforcement officers

         23  or police officers and say this is what you do all

         24  day, you go and regulate where the artists are

         25  setting up, instead of patrolling the parks and
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          2  making them safe.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Okay, so you're

          4  saying that this Intro 160 is an attempt to maybe

          5  clarify the general vendor code, or is this a

          6  request of the Council to maybe overturn that?

          7                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: No, it's

          8  precisely what you said the first thing, to clarify

          9  what we believe, and perhaps what you hear from your

         10  predecessors in this body, with the original stated

         11  intent, that when they passed that part of the

         12  general vending law, was to allow poets to sell

         13  stuff on street corners, not to allow proliferation

         14  of vendors in parks.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Okay. And then

         16  lastly, Mr. Chairman, many of the advocates that I

         17  spoke to in regard to this bill stated that this

         18  intro could be in violation of their First Amendment

         19  Rights. I just would like you to comment on that,

         20  and then from my perspective, just I'm still

         21  researching this issue, if the First Amendment

         22  Rights of these individuals end, once there is

         23  merchandise that is being sold for a profit; if you

         24  could comment on that I'd appreciate it.

         25                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: There is no
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          2  First Amendment issue. The judge who ruled in this

          3  case never said there was a First Amendment Issue.

          4  We have never attempted to put in place a procedure

          5  that would regulate in some way or restrict First

          6  Amendment Rights.

          7                 Which is why we're sort of wrestling

          8  with the issues that when someone says to us you

          9  should only allow original artists, we're not sure

         10  if we did that, whether we would be running afoul of

         11  the First Amendment, as it's been understood to be

         12  applied by recent court decisions.

         13                 Our parks always have been and always

         14  will be forms for the expression of ideas.

         15                 It happens every day in our parks.

         16  Under a permitting system, people would still be

         17  displaying art, selling art, selling reproductions

         18  of art, selling your name on a grain of rice, all of

         19  the things that are permitted under expanded use of

         20  the sort of description of written matter. It's just

         21  that we would have an ability to regulate the time,

         22  place and manner of this expression. The same way

         23  that, for example, if you say I want to hold a

         24  rally, under my First Amendment Rights on some

         25  issue, and you say I'd like to hold it at five
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          2  o'clock on the Brooklyn Bridge, someone may say to

          3  you wait a second, you can have it but not at five

          4  o'clock on the Brooklyn Bridge, because the

          5  municipality has a clear interest in regulating the

          6  time, place and manner of that expression of your

          7  First Amendment Rights.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Thank you, Mr.

          9  Chairman.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,

         11  Council Member Dilan.

         12                 Council Member Gerson.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you, Mr.

         14  Chair.

         15                 Commissioner, let me preface my

         16  questions by making it clear that I will not hold

         17  against you the fact that you do not vend hot dogs.

         18  Let me also say that having had the privilege and

         19  pleasure of working with you for years before we

         20  have both assumed our current positions, I am well

         21  aware of your wholehearted commitment to the

         22  well-being of our parks and parkland, and I take any

         23  ideas and proposals you set forth in that vain.

         24                 Let me start with a basic question

         25  why, and the why goes to why a permitting system?
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          2  Wouldn't it be a lot easier if we gave you the

          3  authority to designate areas for vending or to

          4  restrict whole scale areas from vending, and kind of

          5  leave it at that, with the obvious, you know,

          6  obvious basic safety strictures that apply to any

          7  activity, but just like there are ballfields where

          8  you can't have dogs in places where, you know, not

          9  to draw a direct analogy, but why don't we just,

         10  instead of giving you permitting authority, give you

         11  the authority to designate vending areas or to

         12  restrict areas from vending; wouldn't that make your

         13  job a lot easier and avoid some of the issues we're

         14  going to hear testimony about later today?

         15                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: I guess that

         16  would be a type of permitting system, but it would

         17  be sort of halfway there and give rise to the same

         18  kinds of problems.

         19                 So, for example, if you say, well

         20  this 50-foot stretch, it's okay to sell, and not

         21  anywhere beyond that, you would be setting up a

         22  formula whereby the first come first served or the

         23  guy with the biggest muscles gets the spot, or I

         24  think we would like to have this fair, we would like

         25  to have a fair system where people have an equal
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          2  chance of getting a prime spot and don't have --

          3  because they're self-employed artists who don't have

          4  health coverage and have to work a day job or

          5  something to be an artist, they can't compete with

          6  the businesses, so I think what you would do is

          7  simply create a permitting system that only halfway

          8  addresses the problem.

          9                 And I'm glad you brought up the

         10  analogy with the ballfields, particularly in your

         11  district, as you know, ballfields are scarce.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: But you're

         13  going to expand them.

         14                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: We're going to

         15  expand them and transform them. But the way that we

         16  regulate, create a fair system so people have access

         17  to the ballfields, is through a permitting system.

         18  The same way that people want to have bleaker

         19  playgrounds in your district as the busiest

         20  playground in the City, if everybody had a birthday

         21  party at the same time, you'd have chaos, so people

         22  can apply and say I'd like to reserve from 2:00 to

         23  4:00 on Saturday afternoon for a birthday party. You

         24  fill out a special event permit, you pay your $25

         25  and you have a birthday party.
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          2                 You want to be able to play softball

          3  from 2:00 to 4:00 at JJ Walker Field, you come in,

          4  you pay your $16 for the ballfield permit, you have

          5  your softball game.

          6                 This is, unfortunately, this is the

          7  story of life in New York. If this were the wide

          8  open plains of Nebraska, space is not an issue. You

          9  don't have people elbowing each other for space, but

         10  everything that happens in parks, there are people

         11  competing for that scarce space, and the same would

         12  apply to the vendors. Which I think the permitting

         13  system, which by the way was in place and worked

         14  very well, it eliminated the need to police to be

         15  nannies on this kind of stuff.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, we'll

         17  just pause that. I guess I didn't understand that.

         18  Why? It seems to me you would need as much oversight

         19  and enforcement of a permitting system than --

         20  right? To make sure that people in their spots were

         21  the people with the permits, as you would for any

         22  other kind of space allocation system?

         23                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: No, because what

         24  happens is it becomes self-enforcing. You're playing

         25  a ball game at JJ Walker Park, someone comes up to
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          2  you and says I want to play here, you show them a

          3  copy of your permit. That's it. That's your

          4  ballfield for those two hours. The same thing with

          5  the artists. The ability to know that every day

          6  you'd come out to that same spot, and you wouldn't

          7  have to compete for it, you wouldn't have to get up

          8  at 6:00 a.m. to beat the muscle guys to the spot.

          9  That's a very important thing. And that's why we

         10  have a very complex permitting system.

         11                 The vendors would self-enforce if

         12  they knew that there was a structure in which they

         13  could operate.

         14                 And we could then direct our

         15  attention to dealing with the more serious problems.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Would you be

         17  able to assure us that whatever system you came up

         18  with, or whatever form of a lottery system, and I

         19  know you're not prepared to go into the details, at

         20  this point that's phase 2, which I'll pursue in a

         21  moment, but can you at this point at least assure

         22  the Committee and the public that any process would

         23  be a blind process in that the Parks Department

         24  would never be in the position of being able in

         25  reality and perception to pick and choose among
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          2  particular vendors?

          3                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Well, if we did

          4  it as we did in the past, the vendors would attend

          5  the lottery, and we picked the numbers out of a

          6  spinning thing. I mean, that's pretty fair, seemed

          7  like with the New York State lottery.

          8                 This again is a tricky issue. Should

          9  we be completely neutral, say anybody can apply to

         10  sell pretty much anything they want? Or do we favor

         11  original artists, and we hear from both sides of

         12  that issue.

         13                 I guess we want it to be, you know,

         14  completely follow, according to hoil (phonetic) on

         15  this, you'd have to be content neutral and say

         16  anybody who sort of passes fits in the general

         17  description of a First Amendment vendor gets to

         18  participate in the lottery. A lot of original

         19  artists would say, hey that's not fair to us, but it

         20  creates a more level playing field. At least it

         21  means the original artist has as much of a chance as

         22  the commercial vendor.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I think the

         24  point you made in your testimony about looking into

         25  ways of dealing with original artists, or for that

                                                            45

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  matter original crafts persons, really is a related,

          3  but nevertheless a distinct issue, and I think we

          4  need to pursue that.

          5                 But if you were to have a permitting

          6  system, I guess I want to know if you're able to

          7  assure us that within the category of participants,

          8  which you set up, which presumably would be a broad

          9  category, whether or not you have a special

         10  additional area for original artists reserved, but

         11  within the category, I mean will it be a totally

         12  blind process so there can be no question whether

         13  the Parks Department did not, was not able to

         14  influence the selection of which vendors received

         15  the permit.

         16                 I really think this should be a yes

         17  or no question.

         18                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Yes. Yes. And we

         19  would not judge content. That's not our role.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay.

         21                 You referred to phase 2, which will

         22  be the elaborate, you know, more detailed

         23  regulations which, you know, you're not prepared to

         24  present today. Under the bill that you have

         25  proposed, I mean, you said you welcome input, but
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          2  would the City Council have the authority to review

          3  and make changes, and accept or reject the

          4  particular regulations, as we do in so many parts of

          5  the Administrative Code?

          6                 Or are you suggesting that we

          7  delegate this entirely to the Parks Department, you

          8  know, for you then to implement directly without

          9  further Council approval?

         10                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: I think contrary

         11  to what you just said, we would want you to be part

         12  of the process of the beginning. Obviously, this is

         13  of interest to you. Under the CAPA regulations, I

         14  don't think there's a statutory review, but we would

         15  like to have you participate in the framing of the

         16  regulations.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I heard you

         18  testify to that, and I appreciate that, but I want

         19  to direct my question --

         20                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Not just you,

         21  but also civic organizations have expressed an

         22  interest, artists, I would like to have a wide group

         23  of people participating in this process.

         24                 Is there technically a statutory

         25  review by the City Council of park regulations? I
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          2  don't believe so, but that being said, we would not

          3  develop these in a vacuum.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: No, and I

          5  appreciate that, but would you be open to

          6  clarification or amendment of the bill to give this

          7  City Council that type of formal statutory review?

          8  Which the Council does exercise in various other

          9  areas of the administrative law.

         10                 You're asking us to pass a general

         11  law giving the Parks Department permitting

         12  authority, and I have no doubt that you'll consult

         13  with a wide range of constituencies, including the

         14  Council, but this is a significant regulation, and

         15  my question is should you then come back to the

         16  Council, and should we have the opportunity to

         17  review and approve change or reject it, as we would

         18  many administrative, many parts of the

         19  administrative code.

         20                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Not to be

         21  disingenuous, let's say we're open to discussion,

         22  there may be some City Charter issues here and we'd

         23  need to speak to Corp Counsel, but open to that

         24  discussion.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay, so we
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          2  could pursue this further. I'm quite confident in

          3  terms of the Charter that those would not be -- we

          4  would not find those prohibitive.

          5                 Let me go back to the point of

          6  sidewalks, which Council Member Brewer raised, and

          7  as you know, this is an issue you and I have

          8  discussed. And I do need to preface my questions

          9  here with a couple of points.

         10                 As you know, the Administration, your

         11  colleagues and the Department of Consumer Affairs

         12  are in the process of reviewing regulations

         13  governing vending outside of Parks Department,

         14  governing, you know, the general vending, which

         15  Council Member Dilan spoke of earlier, and as I've

         16  expressed to you, I do have a concern within

         17  consistency with regulations which affect sidewalks

         18  outside of parks, recreation centers, museums,

         19  outside of other property that was under the

         20  jurisdiction -- that is set aside for parks

         21  activity, and I'm specifically concerned with an

         22  inconsistency which would render those sidewalks

         23  outside of parks or other park facilities, more

         24  restrictive than regulations governing sidewalks

         25  where people live.
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          2                 You know, you have convinced me,

          3  Commissioner, in your testimony, to use your

          4  language that parks are inherently different from

          5  general sidewalks. You have not convinced me that

          6  sidewalks outside of parks recreation centers and

          7  museums, or across the street, which I believe is

          8  also under Parks' jurisdiction, are inherently

          9  different from sidewalks outside of places where

         10  people live, other than, of course, to protect

         11  benches and fences which are directly part of the

         12  park. If anything, I can think of an argument that

         13  would say you would want to have even more of this

         14  type of vending outside the parks than outside of

         15  where people live, and part of my concern is a

         16  displacement, if we have a more restrictive

         17  regulation in sidewalks outside of parks, museums,

         18  recreation centers, you're going to displace and

         19  have a net displacement of vendors to sidewalks

         20  outside of places where people live, which as you

         21  know is a very significant issue in my community.

         22                 So I guess my question to you at this

         23  point is, would you be open to a commitment that

         24  would assure that regulations on the sidewalks

         25  outside of the parks, outside of parks, et cetera,
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          2  are no more restrictive than regulations on

          3  sidewalks elsewhere other than for the obvious,

          4  entrances, benches and the walls surrounding parks.

          5                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: I think if you

          6  look at these pictures in your packages over here,

          7  you can see that the problem is precisely on the

          8  perimeters of parks. That's where we have the most

          9  extreme congestion, that is where we have the park

         10  experience being compromised, and we would argue

         11  that in many parks, the park experience begins at

         12  the curb, that the design of the sidewalks is

         13  different, that there are more trees, that there are

         14  benches alongside the park perimeter, that there is

         15  a historic stone wall in some cases, that people use

         16  the parks sidewalks the same way they do the park.

         17                 For example, if you walk out of

         18  Washington Square Park in the evening or morning,

         19  there are lots of people jogging the perimeter of

         20  the park. It's because they know that a certain

         21  number of trips around the perimeter equal a mile.

         22                 If you were to have vendors set up

         23  the way you have in front of the Metropolitan Museum

         24  or the corner of Central Park, they would not be

         25  able to job around the park. And we do consider the
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          2  perimeters of the parks to be every bit a part of

          3  the park, that's why we clear the snow from the park

          4  perimeters, that's where we plant trees on them,

          5  that's where we have benches as part of the park

          6  experience. And we think that part of the reason we

          7  need to have this Intro. 160 is because those parts

          8  of the parks experience have been compromised and

          9  made unsafe, by the unregulated proliferation.

         10                 Does it mean you wouldn't have any

         11  vendors? No. You would still have vendors, but in

         12  such a number and in such a way that the experiences

         13  are not compromised and, more importantly, the

         14  safety are not compromised. But this picture you see

         15  right in front of you is on the perimeter of the

         16  park. That's where the double row of vendors force

         17  the pedestrians into a single or double file to walk

         18  the gauntlet between vendors and that's where the

         19  problem is created.

         20                 So, if you're saying would we be

         21  willing to see unlimited vending on the perimeters

         22  of parks, the answer is no.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: No, no. But,

         24  Commissioner, that was not my question. I never

         25  suggested that there be unrestricted or unlimited
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          2  vending. My question was directed to consistency. We

          3  have regulations and we're going to have regulations

          4  and we're in the process of reviewing and revamping

          5  regulations of governing vending on the general

          6  sidewalks, including sidewalks outside of places

          7  where people live. And my suggestion to you is

          8  simply that these regulations be consistent, that we

          9  don't have a City where we have one set of

         10  regulations where people live and another set of

         11  regulations outside of a building or edifice or a

         12  park that happens to for whatever historic reasons

         13  belong to the jurisdiction of the Parks Department,

         14  but it is in fact a sidewalk rather than part of a

         15  park.

         16                 There is a big difference between

         17  being inside and outside of a park, but that's not

         18  to say it should be unregulated outside of the park,

         19  I'm just suggesting that we might want to consider

         20  consistency which would allow also room for obvious,

         21  for the determination of objective differences such

         22  as benches and walls; would you be open to exploring

         23  that further?

         24                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: We're open to

         25  exploring it. Unfortunately, I don't know enough
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          2  about this sidewalk regulations that you're

          3  considering to comment on, you know, how close we

          4  would be to those. But certainly you're open to

          5  conversation about those things.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I would

          7  suggest to the Administration generally, since we

          8  have these two processes that are obviously

          9  interrelated, going on at the same time that there

         10  be, you know, an effort of internal dialogue and

         11  consistency which I think would be better for all.

         12                 Let me, Mr. Chair, pause at this

         13  point on the note of balance, and while going back

         14  to your analogy of ballfields, that clearly we do

         15  recognize that you have a permitting system for

         16  ballfields and tennis courts and golf course and

         17  whatnot, but there is also an opportunity for people

         18  to go into unrestricted areas without having a

         19  permit and just pick up a game of softball or what

         20  have you, and it was a balance that I think makes

         21  the New York park experience a very positive

         22  experience, and I guess I look forward to working

         23  with you, Commissioner, in this area of art and

         24  written expression to achieving a commensurate

         25  balance.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Thank you,

          3  Council Member Gerson. You've always been a friend

          4  of parks.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And I always

          6  will be.

          7                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Thank you.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,

          9  Council Member Gerson.

         10                 A couple of finer points that were

         11  touched upon by my colleagues regarding the permits,

         12  Commissioner, the first, again, to state quite

         13  specifically, there is one flat permit fee

         14  regardless of where the location is, correct?

         15                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: It may be

         16  premature to say exactly what will happen because we

         17  had, under the previous system it was a flat fee, if

         18  you would apply, and if you won in the lottery then

         19  you paid. You didn't have to pay to apply. Some of

         20  our other permit systems you have to pay first and

         21  you apply, even if you don't get to do it you still

         22  have to pay. It's a processing fee. It's an

         23  administrative fee. Believe me, we're not going to

         24  make any money on this.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: This is not to
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          2  plug the budget gap, in other words? This is the

          3  administrative fee.

          4                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: No, we lose

          5  money on this kind of deal.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay. But,

          7  again, this is the item that will probably be in

          8  more detail in the phase two proposal?

          9                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Yes. I mean, for

         10  example, if you have to pay $25 for a one-month

         11  permits, you sell one piece of art, you've recouped

         12  your investments, and the overhead is pretty low on

         13  our parks.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Regarding the

         15  actual allocation of these permits for specific

         16  locations, you said self-enforcing, but in that

         17  situation where a vendor is at a location where no

         18  permit has been issued, now who would enforce that?

         19  A vendor is at a position where no permit was ever

         20  issued, but they happened to just set up there, who

         21  enforces that?

         22                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Well, we would

         23  enforce it the same way we enforce all the rules. If

         24  we saw it, or if it were called to our attention, if

         25  there's somebody spraying paint on a wall, or
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          2  running a dog off leash through a tulip bed, we'd

          3  enforce it. But what we found is, when we had a

          4  permitting system with a lottery system, we didn't

          5  have to spend a lot of time on enforcements. It was

          6  self-regulating.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Just to be

          8  clear, it would be park enforcement or NYPD?

          9                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Either one.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay.

         11                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Generally

         12  speaking NYPD tends to focus on the serious crime

         13  issues. We tend to deal with the quality of life

         14  issues.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay.

         16                 And as far as issuing these permits,

         17  would there be distinction made between those who

         18  sell material and those who display material not for

         19  sale?

         20                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: While I wouldn't

         21  rule it out, we have not run into many people who

         22  are simply displaying and not selling. And that's

         23  just a reality. You know, if somebody wants to

         24  display and not sell, it's not an issue.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Would they need
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          2  a permit?

          3                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: To simply

          4  display the art and not sell it would not require a

          5  permit.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Would not

          7  require a permit, okay.

          8                 Council Member Gale Brewer.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you. I

         10  was just wondering not today, but if you could get

         11  us the list and the amount of summonses that have

         12  been issued, if any, regarding some of these

         13  infractions? I know that perhaps more during the

         14  summer months, but is that something that you could

         15  get us? It doesn't have to be today.

         16                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: We would be

         17  happy to provide you with that. It's probably very

         18  minimal.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you very

         20  much.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,

         22  Council Member Brewer.

         23                 Council Member Jackson.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Staying on

         25  that subject, to the best of your knowledge, have
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          2  there been criminal arrest cases? And if so, have

          3  those cases been adjudicated as far as the arrests

          4  sustained or overturned and thrown out? And are

          5  there currently any pending now, that sets whatever

          6  the standard is? And if so, what is that standard?

          7  What's the infraction of violation?

          8                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: If there are any

          9  criminal matters pending now, they're probably

         10  Police Department issues. I'm not aware of any

         11  ongoing or pending criminal arrests by us at this

         12  point, by the Parks Department.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Nothing

         14  relating to this whole issue we're talking about as

         15  far as, you know, setting up, jockeying,

         16  overcrowdedness?

         17                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Well, our

         18  ability is -- one of the reasons we're here is the

         19  ability to regulate that, or to enforce, has largely

         20  been taken away by the judge.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Right, I

         22  understand that. But you don't have a record whether

         23  or not there has been criminal arrests relating to

         24  subjects who we're talking about?

         25                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Nothing since
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          2  August of 2001.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: August 2001

          4  there are situations, I assume?

          5                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Well, that's

          6  when the judge said that we couldn't have the

          7  permitting system anymore.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So before

          9  that you had the permitting system?

         10                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: We had a

         11  permitting system for how many years?

         12                 For approximately five years we had a

         13  permitting system with a lottery in place.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And you said

         15  that it worked pretty well?

         16                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: We thought so.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: But then you

         18  just said, that's why I was asking, you said there

         19  was nothing in place, there was no criminal arrest

         20  prior to that; has there been any after, August of

         21  2001, to the best of your knowledge?

         22                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: There has been

         23  nothing since August of 2001.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And would it

         25  be illegal for a vendor to block the sidewalks so
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          2  that pedestrians could not pass? And if so, could

          3  the Department of Parks and Recreation, or another

          4  agency, issue a violation for that action?

          5                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Council Member

          6  Jackson --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes?

          8                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: -- Yes, if you

          9  set up your stands and block the pathway completely,

         10  you would be subject to summonses or arrests.

         11                 The whole point is we don't want to

         12  be in that business. We don't want to be in a

         13  confrontational business. We'd like to have a self

         14  -- we had a system that worked perfectly well for

         15  five years, and we don't want to take on those kinds

         16  of confrontations. And as I said before, with just a

         17  few PEP officers to cover 1,000 acres of parkland,

         18  we'd rather have them out patroling, and making the

         19  parks safe, rather than minding how tables get set

         20  up in the south end of Central Park.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I believe

         22  Council Member Brewer requested statistics as to how

         23  many violations concerning obstructing pedestrian

         24  traffic flow; am I correct?

         25                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Yes. We'll do

                                                            61

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  the research and get it to you.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Now, let me

          4  just go off to food vendors.

          5                 Food vendors, do they have designated

          6  spots in the park, and does that system seem, you

          7  know, can you explain that? And how does that relate

          8  and how do you see the parallel towards --

          9                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Well, the answer

         10  is yes. All vendors, not just of food, but also of

         11  t-shirts and baseball caps and other things, who

         12  sell on park property, other than these vendors,

         13  have permits that are pursuant to the City Charter,

         14  the Parks Department issues public bids for

         15  concessions in our parks.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: But now, to

         17  the best of my knowledge, this law that we're

         18  talking about, is 350 feet from the park; is that

         19  correct? So, for example, across the street from

         20  Central Park, on the other part of Central Park

         21  West, the west side of Central Park West, or

         22  anywhere else across the street, 350 feet is quite a

         23  long distance; is there a permit system in place for

         24  food vendors that set up there? Or do you have

         25  jurisdiction over that?
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          2                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Technically

          3  speaking I believe on the issues of concessions, our

          4  jurisdiction extends into the street, sometimes to

          5  the opposite building line. Our concern here on this

          6  issue is not across the street, it's on the park

          7  perimeters and inside the parks.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So, the food

          9  vendor situation is governed by a different law, is

         10  it governed by the same law? Because I know that

         11  there's an issue of 350 feet, this whole issue of,

         12  you know, books and everything else that is being

         13  sold out there, the art work, and I assume that the

         14  350 is the same law, if I'm not mistaken? And I know

         15  that you don't have the answer for everything but

         16  maybe your counsel has an appropriate answer, I

         17  don't know.

         18                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Just to clarify,

         19  on the food vendors, on the food vendors, for

         20  example, the hotdog vendors that you see, the much

         21  ballyhooed hotdog vendors, the vendors of t-shirts,

         22  in some cases the vendors of books, are all

         23  concessionaires of the Parks Department, they all

         24  paid fees to the City for the privilege of selling a

         25  public property. Those fees go to the City's general
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          2  fund. The total revenue that we take in from all of

          3  our concessions and revenue sources across the parks

          4  system is about $60 million.

          5                 And as you know, when that goes to

          6  the general fund, it's paying for direct City

          7  services, firefighters, police officers, teachers,

          8  schools and so on.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Commissioner,

         10  I'm referring to a little more specific concerning

         11  across the street, not on the park property, within

         12  the 350 feet jurisdiction that's cited in the law;

         13  is there any system in place to regulate that, or is

         14  there currently no system, as far as food vendors?

         15                 Because then my second question, if

         16  you respond, so why do you want to designate spots

         17  for written vendors that are not actually on the

         18  park property, that they may be across the street,

         19  you know, within the 350 feet jurisdiction?

         20                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: We're not really

         21  interested in regulating vendors of written matter

         22  on the other side of the street.

         23                 With food vendors where vendors are

         24  paying the City up to $300,000 a year for the

         25  privilege of selling on public property, we'd be
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          2  interested in regulating that.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes. The 350

          4  feet, is that the law that we passed, it's in the

          5  Charter?

          6                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: It's in the City

          7  Charter.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So, if, for

          9  example, we have to change the Charter, if we wanted

         10  to change that jurisdiction?

         11                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: That's correct.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I think that

         13  you would agree that you have enough to police and

         14  monitor and to deal with within the actual

         15  boundaries of the New York City parks system, more

         16  so to regulate across the street in front of a

         17  building.

         18                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: We don't pursue

         19  any interest in regulating across the street on the

         20  vendors of art.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: You're not

         22  going to send your PEP officers over there? I hope

         23  not, right?

         24                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Even if we had

         25  them we wouldn't.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay. That's

          3  all for now.

          4                 Thank you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,

          6  Council Member Jackson.

          7                 The last two sets of questions, first

          8  from Council Member Alan Gerson.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Just a few

         10  brief points of clarification.

         11                 Would anything in the bill you're

         12  proposing enable the Department to add on any

         13  restrictions to working artists who want to set up

         14  an easel to draw a scene of any sort?

         15                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Not at all.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Or a

         17  photographer from setting up a tripod to take photos

         18  in the park?

         19                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Only where the

         20  tripod might be set up in a tulip bed, we might say

         21  --

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: But that's not

         23  this bill.

         24                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: No.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: That's the
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          2  difference.

          3                 I'm talking about this bill.

          4                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: No, we love it.

          5  There's nothing like the artist setting up the easel

          6  and sketching or painting in the park. It's just

          7  sort of a classic park scene, and the more of it,

          8  the better.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Or for that

         10  matter, anyone going into parks and handing out, you

         11  know, without charging a fee, political

         12  paraphernalia, or other written material?

         13                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: No. As long as

         14  they don't drop them on the ground.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Again, this

         16  bill doesn't change anything?

         17                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: No.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: You said you

         19  look forward to working with artists in the arts

         20  community in the establishment of whatever system,

         21  if you aren't able to establish a system, would you

         22  be open to establishing kind of a permanent protocol

         23  where there was some form of kind of a permanent

         24  protocol where there was some form of kind of

         25  permanent arts, artists advisory to the parks to
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          2  periodically review the system, periodically advise,

          3  maybe explore ways of artists, self-policing and

          4  self-enforcement which seems to be a policy which

          5  you want to go into, some kind of collective of art

          6  vendors to, you know, propound ways of the

          7  self-enforcement you see? Could we look to ongoing

          8  inclusion, I guess is what I'm asking?

          9                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Yes, we want to

         10  be as inclusive as possible.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: So we can set

         12  up some kind of more or less permanent advisory

         13  structure, or look into self-enforcement?

         14                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: We work with 51

         15  community boards, we work with thousands of

         16  neighborhood groups and civic organizations, all of

         17  whom have a stake in their parks, and 51 Council

         18  members, one more group would be welcomed.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And finally,

         20  just to go back to where I kind of began, just for

         21  the sake of exploration, and we could, you know,

         22  don't expect to end the exploration with this

         23  hearing, but with the idea of allotting space,

         24  perhaps without a permitting system, perhaps one way

         25  to think about it is analogous to the tennis court
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          2  system, and maybe under that analogy we would enable

          3  you to set aside areas that are restricted or

          4  unrestricted then kick in a kind of permitting

          5  procedure only when and if we found that the demand

          6  for the space kind of exceeded what was available,

          7  and I'm thinking, you know, I've played tennis on

          8  occasion, not very well in your park, and when I go

          9  to the Central Park I have to have my permit, you

         10  know, to get on the court because the demand far

         11  exceeds, you know, what's available, and you have to

         12  wait in line and make sure you have your assigned

         13  hour.

         14                 When I go to the Williams Bridge oval

         15  up in the Bronx, there where my uncle lives, and

         16  played with him, there is in effect no permitting

         17  system, because, you know, the demand is not there

         18  that requires, and that may be technical but there's

         19  no one there who checks permits, there's no one

         20  there who looks to it. I mean, maybe that analogy

         21  presents a way to proceed rather than establishing

         22  kind of a universal permitting system, do it where

         23  experience shows that it may be necessary giving the

         24  Department the ability to restrict vending from

         25  inappropriate areas all together.
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          2                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Interesting

          3  question. I think it's probably best if I get back

          4  to you on that. I sort of foresee, again, opening up

          5  a pandoras box of problems there.

          6                 One of the reasons that you don't

          7  find the tennis attendant, if you going to Williams

          8  Bridge oval, may be because we used to have an

          9  attendant there, things being what they are, it's

         10  always better to have some form of regulation where

         11  there can be a sense of certainty that if you want

         12  to sell your art on a certain corner and you have

         13  won the lottery fair and square, and you've paid

         14  your $25, you have that piece of paper that gives

         15  the location and says you can sell there, rather

         16  than having to fight it out in some kind of ruthless

         17  battle of who's the strongest.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, again,

         19  if it came to that -- I always look forward to a

         20  brainstorming discussion with you, and will continue

         21  to do so. I thank you very much --

         22                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Thank you very

         23  much.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: -- For your

         25  testimony, Commissioner.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,

          3  Council Member Gerson.

          4                 Council Member Dilan.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Yes, one brief

          6  question, Mr. Chairman, and to the Parks

          7  Commissioner.

          8                 There has been cases where the state

          9  and federal courts have deemed the permitting system

         10  inadmissible. I guess could you maybe explain to us,

         11  you know, why? And why it would be any different if

         12  Intro. 160 were passed?

         13                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: Not clear which

         14  Court decisions you're talking about. We are

         15  constantly dealing with various courts at various

         16  levels on issues of what's the appropriate way for

         17  people to use parks, and how far can the City go in

         18  protecting the rights of taxpayers to have free

         19  access to the parks.

         20                 In this particular case, the reason

         21  why we're before you today, is a judge felt that

         22  Intro. 33 was unclear when it said nothing herein

         23  shall prevent the Parks Commissioner from regulating

         24  this type of sale. We thought it was clear enough

         25  but we wanted to clarify that, that's why Intro. 160
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          2  -- there are court decisions that take place all

          3  the time that have some effect in the business that

          4  we do, I think back to one that went to the Supreme

          5  Court, Roc against Racism versus the City and the

          6  Parks Department, where the Supreme Court found that

          7  the City had a compelling interest in the ability to

          8  regulate the volume of a concert.

          9                 So, we're constantly shaping and

         10  reshaping our policies in response to not just court

         11  decisions, but also legislation and rules that get

         12  passed.

         13                 I'm sorry, I don't mean to be

         14  evasive, but there are a number of different cases

         15  that have relevance to what we're trying to do.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: I think I'll

         17  end there, Mr. Chairman. That's fine.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,

         19  Council Member Dilan.

         20                 To ask questions, as soon as he sits

         21  down, is Council Member Jackson.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Commissioner,

         23  thank you for your patience, and responding as

         24  honestly as you can to all of the questions. But let

         25  me ask you a question. What if the City Council,
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          2  this Committee, does not recommend to the full

          3  Council, and does not vote in the affirmative of

          4  Intro. 160, can you tell me in your opinion what the

          5  result of that action would be?

          6                 Because I want to be able to

          7  communicate to my colleagues, if they read the

          8  record, they need to know that if they vote no on

          9  this particular matter, what the effect is going to

         10  be. And I'm going to ask the advocates when they

         11  come up here the same question. If they vote yes, in

         12  their opinion, what is the effect going to be?

         13                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: I think rather

         14  than -- let's concentrate on the affirmative.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

         16                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: If this vote

         17  were passed, artists and vendors would still be

         18  doing business in parks without being treated as

         19  concessionaires. They would have, particularly for

         20  original artists, a greater sureness they were

         21  competing on a level playing field, for spots that

         22  would be fairly allocated.

         23                 In discussion with elected officials,

         24  community representatives, park users, civic groups,

         25  and the artists themselves.
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          2                 We would reduce dramatically the

          3  congestion in the most congested parts of the park,

          4  primarily making it safe for park users, but also

          5  reinforcing the park experience, the artists would

          6  find that they have just as much a right to sell

          7  their art as they once had, but it would be insured

          8  by possessing a permit to sell in a specific spot,

          9  for a specific duration of time.

         10                 In other words, we would bring order

         11  to the chaos that currently exists, and while

         12  allowing full expression of people's ideas and

         13  artistic impulses.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I thank you

         15  for answering from a positive point of view, but I

         16  also, I need to be able to turn the coin on the

         17  other side, so that my colleagues know what the

         18  impact will be if they vote no. And from the

         19  Commission of Parks Department, I want you to

         20  communicate with me and my colleagues what the

         21  impact of a no vote would mean.

         22                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: The impact would

         23  be the pictures you see before you, dramatically

         24  cluttered public spaces, danger to the public from

         25  the congestion, a diminished park experience, more
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          2  vendors, more locations, more products, following

          3  sort of loosely in the context of written matter and

          4  art, and I think they would find, as they will hear

          5  today, that their constituents would not be very

          6  happy, that in pleasing a few hundred people engaged

          7  in business in public parks, they would be

          8  displeasing hundreds of thousands, if not millions

          9  of constituents and visitors.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,

         12  Council Member Jackson.

         13                 Commissioner Benepe, I want to thank

         14  you and your team from the Department of Parks and

         15  Recreation for your time and testimony today.

         16                 Obviously, we have opened the door

         17  for dialogue on Intro. 160, as we probably just hit

         18  the tip of the iceberg on this matter, and obviously

         19  today just with your testimony, have been created, a

         20  number of issues that we obviously need to discuss

         21  and iron out, but I look forward to the, again, open

         22  dialogue between this Committee, myself, and your

         23  Department, as well as the other vendors and artists

         24  as well.

         25                 Once again, thank you for your
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          2  patience and your testimony.

          3                 COMMISSIONER BENEPE: I thank you for

          4  the time to allow us to fully consider this serious

          5  matter, and I apologize to the people who have come

          6  here that they've had to wait so long to speak, and

          7  look forward to hearing what they have to say.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,

          9  Commissioner.

         10                 Ladies and gentlemen, due to the

         11  large number of those that signed up to speak, and

         12  we want to hear from each and every one of you, what

         13  we're going to be doing is this, we're going to be

         14  calling up two and three names at a time, and those

         15  giving testimony can limit it to three minutes, and

         16  we're going to keep it strict to three minutes so we

         17  get past everyone, and we do want to hear everyone,

         18  and obviously want to be out by a reasonable hour,

         19  some time before midnight.

         20                 So, therefore, we are going to call

         21  up our next panel, which will be, Robert Lederman

         22  and Mitchell Balmuth next to give testimony.

         23                 As I said earlier, we will have a

         24  professional hearing, and I appreciate the clapping

         25  but that must stop. I appreciate it. Thank you.
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          2                 Just to have an orderly professional

          3  hearing and keep it timely.

          4                 Mr. Lederman, Mr. Balmuth, thank you

          5  for coming today. If you would please raise your

          6  right hand to be sworn in by Counsel.

          7                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please raise

          8  your right hand.

          9                 Do you swear or affirm to tell the

         10  truth? Please state your name.

         11                 You have to push the button.

         12                 MR. LEDERMAN: Robert Lederman. Sorry.

         13                 Mr. Chairman, Council members, good

         14  afternoon. I'm Robert Lederman, the President of

         15  Artists' Response to Illegal State Tactics or

         16  ARTIST, and I would say that our group's name tells

         17  the entire story of what Intro. 160 is about,

         18  illegal state tactics. For ten years, New York City

         19  officials have been trying to take away our rights.

         20  They see the public spaces of this City as a

         21  commodity which can be sold to the highest bidder,

         22  and our rights are seen as an obstacle to this plan.

         23                 In 1996, after thousands of false

         24  arrests of artists, the City's vending license

         25  requirement was struck down and the Federal Courts
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          2  granted us full First Amendment protection.

          3                 The City ignored the Federal Court,

          4  which had noted in their ruling that artists were

          5  exempt from a Park's permit, and then they imposed a

          6  permit on us.

          7                 In 2001, after hundreds more false

          8  arrests, most of which were perpetrated by the Parks

          9  Department, the artists' permit requirement was also

         10  struck down.

         11                 Six different courts have declared it

         12  to be a direct violation of New York City law. It's

         13  hardly a technicality.

         14                 Having failed to strip us of our

         15  rights, the City is just going to try to give one

         16  more try with Intro. 160, a bill with no legitimate

         17  reason for existing.

         18                 Intro. 160 is based on three

         19  completely false premises that artists are

         20  over-running the City's parks, that the Parks

         21  Department needs a permit to regulate us, and that

         22  it is artists, rather than the Parks Department

         23  itself, which is commercializing the parks.

         24                 There are 27,000 acres of park in New

         25  York City, within which on the busiest day there are
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          2  fewer than 300 street artists showing their work.

          3                 Is it true that they can't regulate

          4  us? Even the Commissioner admitted there's a 60-page

          5  vending ordinance which is nothing but restrictions

          6  and which for the record completely applies in New

          7  York City parks.

          8                 And there's no better example of

          9  where commercialization of parks is coming from.

         10                 In this recent newspaper headline,

         11  "Fast Food Gets Nodd Over Art In Parks," where the

         12  Commissioner wants to install Wendy's and McDonald's

         13  in various parks.

         14                 Perhaps the most ironic example of

         15  the utter hypocrisy behind Intro. 160, is how it

         16  sponsors Mayor Bloomberg, Commissioner Benepe, and

         17  Central Park Conservancy, are allowing Cristo to

         18  install 23 miles of 16 -- I'm almost through -- of

         19  16-foot high steel poles along Central Park's

         20  pedestrian pathways.

         21                 Perhaps our problem is not that we

         22  take up too much space, but that we don't take up

         23  enough space. Perhaps if each artist had a 23-mile

         24  long display, Commissioner Benepe would feel better

         25  about us.
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          2                 If regulating artists is the City's

          3  intent, the means are already fully within the

          4  existing vending law. If eliminating artists is the

          5  goal, be assured we have no intention of ever giving

          6  up the rights that we've won.

          7                 The two pillars on which this nation

          8  is built are freedom of speech and free enterprise.

          9  In the interests of your constituents and of all New

         10  Yorkers, I ask you to vote a resounding no on Intro.

         11  160.

         12                 Thank you very much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you, Mr.

         14  Lederman.

         15                 Mr. Balmuth.

         16                 MR. BALMUTH: Hello. My name is

         17  Mitchell Balmuth, and I had a whole speech prepared,

         18  but listening to Mr. Benepe, I found out how

         19  uninformed he was about what existed before.

         20                 First of all, the park permit before

         21  helped these commercial vendors. It wasn't until I

         22  put in one of my affidavits in a lawsuit that they

         23  removed the multiple vendors when I showed that they

         24  had three stands one month, and I want to show you

         25  under Jack Linn what was considered First Amendment
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          2  art.

          3                 Right now only photographs,

          4  paintings, prints and sculptures are allowed to be

          5  sold because that's what the Court ruled. So, first

          6  of all, and then on top of it -- I'm so aggravated,

          7  it's hard for me to even speak on this.

          8                 He went and said, oh, the

          9  Administrative Code 2465 can be enforced, but it

         10  only has to do with gradings and whatnot. Those

         11  pictures that he showed leaning on a park wall,

         12  that's one of the things you can't do by

         13  administrative code, you can't lean your pictures on

         14  anything. They can't be on the ground. They have to

         15  be eight foot by three foot by five foot on the

         16  legitimate stand. These are all in the general

         17  vending code. For him to come up here and say there

         18  are nothing in the general vending code that they

         19  can do, and that Parks enforcement people can't do

         20  it, that's absurd. What's the difference of one

         21  Parks' enforcement person coming there and asking

         22  for a permit or not? And if you want to say, oh, if

         23  you're displaying your art you don't need a permit

         24  -- well, the next permit system, everyone is just

         25  going to go out there and say I'm displaying the
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          2  art. If one person comes by wearing a Parks uniform,

          3  oh, I'm not selling, I'm just displaying. All that

          4  will lead to more problems, because people won't put

          5  their prices on. If you say, if you don't have a

          6  price on, I'm just displaying, this is absurd.

          7                 And as far as getting a space in the

          8  old permit, there were 24 spaces at the MET but

          9  there were 30 permits, and some of the permit books

         10  they mentioned, come early to get your space. And

         11  the same thing with Wean Walk and the other places,

         12  they gave out permits, they didn't assign a space.

         13  If you wanted the space in front of the Metropolitan

         14  Museum or close to the door, you had to come early.

         15  And it would be the same people, if they want to get

         16  there early, they get there early.

         17                 Right now there's a system, and

         18  anybody that's been selling at the Metropolitan

         19  before the permit, during the permit, or after the

         20  permit, will know that any artist who wants to sell

         21  in front of the Metropolitan Museum can come out any

         22  day. Like yesterday.  A lot of people wouldn't have

         23  applied for permit in January, because they figure

         24  how many days am I going to sell. Or even if they

         25  applied they wouldn't get the permit. But yesterday,
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          2  if they wanted to come out, the temperature 32

          3  degrees finally, there were a bunch of people that

          4  came out. Some of them that had permits at the Met

          5  before, they were able to work yesterday. They

          6  didn't have to go through a process and have a prior

          7  restraint and hope that the little ball gets picked.

          8                 I mean, this is what this is all

          9  about. This here is an acknowledgment by the Parks

         10  Department, I showed many of you at our meeting that

         11  the Parks Department has the right to enforce the

         12  general vending code. They passed this out at

         13  Battery Park and Grand Army Plaza, in the areas that

         14  they thought were the worst. They passed this out

         15  telling them that they had to follow general vending

         16  code. And on top of that, on December 16th, they

         17  allowed a book vendor, one with a concession that

         18  paid $65,000 for his space because he owed $18,000

         19  in arrears, they allowed him to move to the most

         20  crowded area that they're complaining about, Grand

         21  Army Plaza, and he set up 19 tables on that spot.

         22                 And when I complained they didn't do

         23  nothing about it.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Okay.

         25                 Just when you speak, speak into the
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          2  mic so we get you on the record.

          3                 MR. BALMUTH: Okay.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: We've got to get

          5  you on the record.

          6                 Before I go to questions from my

          7  colleagues, just so my colleagues understand who

          8  exactly is giving testimony. Both of you are

          9  vendors, where do you vend your material? Is it

         10  original artwork? Can you just give a quick synopsis

         11  of what exactly you vend?

         12                 MR. LEDERMAN: Well, I've been selling

         13  my art on the street for 41 years. I sell all over

         14  the City, and as a political artist I tend to go not

         15  where I'm going to meet tourists, but where the

         16  politicians and elected officials go, as many of you

         17  I'm sure have noticed.

         18                 I, in past years, specialized in

         19  pictures of our former Mayor, and certainly the

         20  Administration was hardly of a mind to give me a

         21  permit to do that, they falsely arrested me 40

         22  times, not one of which arrests ever resulted in a

         23  prosecution.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Mr. Balmuth.

         25                 MR. BALMUTH: My wife is the artist,
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          2  and we vended outside the Metropolitan Museum, and

          3  at Midtown for the last nine years, and she isn't a

          4  political artist, but she is a female artist, and if

          5  you look around you'll see very few female artists

          6  in the museums, et cetera. And as far as -- what was

          7  the other question?

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Where?

          9                 MR. BALMUTH: Mostly at the

         10  Metropolitan Museum or Midtown. The Midtown area

         11  mainly came because we refused to buy the park

         12  permit when it was in existence. So we started

         13  selling at Midtown.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you very

         15  much.

         16                 We have a question from Council

         17  Member Jackson.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Good

         19  afternoon. Thanks for coming. And I met with Mitch

         20  in my office and he gave me many of the advocates

         21  that want us to vote no, his opinion and their

         22  opinion, along with some legal case history and what

         23  have you and so forth. And I communicated with him

         24  that I had not decided how I was going to decide on

         25  this issue as a member of this Committee, so I'm
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          2  open to really flush it out in my mind to determine

          3  what I feel is best overall for this City.

          4                 Concerning the issues, and you've

          5  heard the Commissioner testify, and you saw the

          6  pictures and what have you, and my personal

          7  experience, you know, I've gone into certain areas

          8  of the City where it was kind of difficult to have

          9  easy access of walking, and especially depending on

         10  how good the weather is, and what time of day it is,

         11  how do we deal with the problem of being overrun?

         12  Let me call it that, or overcrowded with artists and

         13  commercial vendors, because quite frankly. You may

         14  say that every individual is an artist, and I know

         15  that that's not true. I just know it's not true. If

         16  that's the case I'm going to call myself an artist

         17  and go out and by myself some photographs and hang

         18  them up too.

         19                 So, I mean how do we deal with that,

         20  how do we find a happy medium here, in order so that

         21  individuals that do not want to have the visual

         22  clutter, visual clutter in their mind, I'm not

         23  saying it is, but in their mind a visual clutter, of

         24  all of these quote/unquote artists in the hot spots,

         25  okay? In order so that they can earn some money I
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          2  guess to support their family and everything else

          3  that everyone else does, but in order for

          4  individuals that want to enjoy the park without

          5  seeing all of this visual clutter, how do we come to

          6  a happy medium? And I ask you that as an advocate

          7  who is, like you said, you've been selling your

          8  artwork for over 40 years. I'm trying to find a way.

          9  Help me.

         10                 MR. LEDERMAN: Well, as we've

         11  recommended to each of these committee members, when

         12  we've met with you, if you look at the vending

         13  ordinance, the whole thing is restrictions. There's

         14  nothing in there where we're saying we're going to

         15  encourage you to do this or let you do that. It's

         16  all about what you can't do. And one of the laws in

         17  it is an exigent circumstances law, that says any

         18  police officer, any Parks officer, any Sanitation

         19  Department officer, could order every vendor on a

         20  block to leave immediately if they felt there was a

         21  situation of congestion that was endangering public

         22  safety. And, of course, that would be an extreme

         23  circumstances.

         24                 But let me turn your question around

         25  a little bit.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.

          3                 MR. LEDERMAN: If you look at today's

          4  New York Times, there's an article about how

          5  Commissioner Benepe, and Mayor Bloomberg want to

          6  have corporate logos and naming rights on all the

          7  parks.

          8                 In an article on the New York Sun,

          9  Commissioner Benepe was quoted as saying it's sort

         10  of like, and this is word for word what he said,

         11  it's sort of like a mom and pop shop with a little

         12  Pepsi sign in the window.

         13                 What I'm trying to get at is that the

         14  very complaints that the Commissioner was making

         15  about street artists are the exact conditions that

         16  he's aggressively promoting in the park. I mean, I

         17  don't know how you feel about fastfood, but I would

         18  guess that a McDonald's or a Burger King or a

         19  Wendy's in a park, is as offensive as hundreds, if

         20  not thousands, of artists would be in the same park.

         21                 And I think we really have to look at

         22  not simply the complaints that the Commissioner is

         23  making, but what the agenda that the Parks

         24  Department is actively pursuing.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And what do
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          2  you believe that agenda is?

          3                 MR. LEDERMAN: Well, it's not a theory

          4  because it's been described in hundreds of newspaper

          5  articles, some of which I have given to you, and

          6  others which I will be happy to provide for you,

          7  it's basically to privatize public property, to let

          8  -- take Bryant Park, it's closed for an entire

          9  month for a fashion show by companies that have

         10  hundreds of millions, if not billions of dollars, in

         11  income, take over a private park to have a fashion

         12  show. You don't have an invite you're not even

         13  allowed into the park.

         14                 Is that over-running a park? When

         15  Disney does a film premiere in Central Park and it's

         16  by invitation only and a million people come and

         17  there's 57 semis and thousands of giant electrical

         18  cables? Is that over-running a park?

         19                 The fact is that what you see here is

         20  about half the number of street artists that are in

         21  all the parks on a busy day, and beauty is in the

         22  eye of the beholder, and I would suggest that the

         23  so-called problem here is very much a subjective one

         24  that's in the eye of the beholder. But if it ever is

         25  an objective one, the City has all the means it
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          2  could ever need or want to control any problem

          3  that's being caused by street artists.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: You gave a

          5  scenario that the Commissioner, or the police or

          6  Sanitation, or any enforcement officer could say,

          7  this is jeopardizing public safety, it's too crowded

          8  here, everyone leave, and you said that's an extreme

          9  situation.

         10                 Now, if that happened, I would assume

         11  that if I was an artist I would be up in arms, I

         12  would probably argue to the contrary, it's not so

         13  overcrowded. And, you know, leave for how long? Just

         14  leave and come back ten minutes later, or leave for

         15  the day? You know, it's, like you said it's

         16  subjective, but the thing is, though, what you

         17  described to me is not a situation where -- to

         18  respond to my question, how are we going to find a

         19  happy medium here where we could have, you know, a

         20  situation where everyone could compromise and be

         21  happy, that's what I want to know. What you

         22  responded to didn't give me any response to my

         23  answer of trying to find that medium.

         24                 And think about what I just said, and

         25  let me just go back to Mitch, and I'll come back to
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          2  you, okay? If you don't mind.

          3                 MR. LEDERMAN: First of all --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: No, no.

          5  Mitch, here is my question to you: You had said

          6  that, you know, it's against the regulations to be

          7  lying art work on the ground and on the park wall,

          8  and the pictures we see there, and people can just

          9  come along and they can write a summons because

         10  they're violating the regulation, I assume that, you

         11  know, but I don't think that we're into writing

         12  summonses and violations more so than educating

         13  people and having people to voluntarily comply with

         14  the regulations; isn't that really what it's sort of

         15  about?

         16                 MR. BALMUTH: Right. And I've been

         17  working very hard at the Metropolitan Museum to make

         18  sure that people follow the regulations. We've got

         19  no help from the Parks Department, no help from

         20  Central Park precinct. I've spoken with the beat cop

         21  at Central Park precinct, I've spoken to the Captain

         22  at Central Park precinct, they do not want to do

         23  anything to help us.

         24                 So, the reason why they want to do

         25  that is that is so they can come up and show these
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          2  pictures.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well, wait a

          4  minute. But don't you have -- obviously, ARTIST,

          5  you're organized, and I believe I receive many of

          6  your e-mails, so don't you have a self-policing or

          7  self-monitoring situation? How come you don't put

          8  pressure on those that are not complying?

          9                 MR. BALMUTH: What can we do? We can't

         10  issue summonses. We can't confiscate art work.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: No, you

         12  can't, but you can put pressure on your colleagues.

         13                 MR. BALMUTH: We do. We do. But some

         14  of them are a little obstinate. But those same

         15  people, the ones that were lining the pictures along

         16  Central Park wall, were doing it the whole three and

         17  a half years there was a permit at the Metropolitan

         18  Museum. Those same people were doing it anyway, and

         19  it takes the same amount of enforcement people to

         20  stop those people as to go and check their permit.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Quite

         22  frankly, though. I don't want to really see all of

         23  our, with the budget the way it is, and I can tell

         24  you, in the seven Councilmanic districts, where you

         25  came to visit me at?
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          2                 MR. BALMUTH: Yes.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I have more

          4  parkland, than the majority of all of the Council

          5  districts in the City. And I, quite frankly, want to

          6  see PEP officers not really forcing, you know, the

          7  artists and their regulations, but patrolling the

          8  parks up in Inwood, up in Riverside Park, up at

          9  Bennett Park, up in Fort Trion Park, up in High

         10  Bridge Park, these are all the parks in my district,

         11  and I'm complaining that there's not enough PEP,

         12  Park Enforcement Officers, to address the situations

         13  up there, and I, quite frankly, I want to focus in

         14  on the quality of life issues that affect my

         15  district, because you've heard it, all politics are

         16  local. Well, you know, my concern is my district,

         17  and I'm concerned Citywide also, obviously. My

         18  concern, and I don't, quite frankly, I don't want

         19  all of the PEP officers or enforcement people tying

         20  up trying to enforce the situation.

         21                 That's why I'm saying, to get back to

         22  you, how are we going to find that medium?

         23                 I want to hear from Mitch, and then

         24  you can address that.

         25                 MR. BALMUTH: Well, first of all, what
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          2  about a beat cop that's stationed at the Met six

          3  days a week that hangs out with the doorman across

          4  the street, hangs out with the food, with the ice

          5  cream truck across the street, hangs out in the

          6  Metropolitan Museum with the security guards; why

          7  can't he do it? Why can't -- what I'm saying is, all

          8  we need is a little back-up from enforcement, and

          9  maybe everybody would follow. At the Metropolitan

         10  Museum 95 percent of the people are following the

         11  vending codes. Ninety-five percent of the people are

         12  following the vending codes, just of what I've done

         13  talking to people. But I can't be everywhere's. I

         14  cannot be everywhere. So, if we have a little bit of

         15  enforcement, the vending codes could be followed.

         16                 And secondly is, in 20-473, when it

         17  was formed in 1982, the only reason why they could

         18  even regulate vendors of written matter were for

         19  health, welfare and safety reasons. Only reason.

         20                 And it also gave the Parks

         21  Commissioner the right to make extra rules about for

         22  the parks. It gave them the right to make rules for

         23  the purpose of the parks, or any situations in the

         24  parks. In a year in a half we won this case, there

         25  has not been one rule that's been made about
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          2  enforcing the laws inside the park. They've done

          3  absolutely nothing, but come here and show you a

          4  bunch of pictures, by the way, which had no

          5  congestion, no dangerous situations. Even those

          6  vendors against the wall were not creating a

          7  dangerous situation.

          8                 They might have been breaking a

          9  vending code, which they could have been confiscated

         10  for, but they were not creating a dangerous

         11  situation.

         12                 Most of those pictures there I

         13  thought were very mild as far as congestion goes,

         14  which is the key word for restricting streets in

         15  vending, the key word for saying it's unsafe.

         16                 Now, they have this whole other set

         17  of rules that we can make up. One of the times that

         18  Jacqueline was around taking those photographs and

         19  videotaping, I went over to her with my video

         20  recorder and asked her, why don't you sit down -- or

         21  first I said, I've been looking at the City Record

         22  waiting for you guys to make more rules and

         23  regulations. Why can't we just sit down, me, you,

         24  Adrian Benepe, Robert Lederman, sit down and let's

         25  talk about what your perceived problems are.
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          2                 Why cannot we work within the

          3  structure of this law without changing the exemption

          4  for a permit?

          5                 There are other things they can do.

          6  What do you call it - Alan Gerson, Council Member

          7  Gerson brought up that they could make certain areas

          8  restricted.

          9                 Ballfields. It was ludicrous during

         10  the actual court cases, they actually put it what's

         11  to keep artists from selling in the ballfields. One

         12  of their lawyers in Criminal Court said we can't

         13  have artists all over the parks. That was a former

         14  Assistant Attorney for the Parks Department.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I'm going to

         16  go back to Mr. -- How do you pronounce your name?

         17                 MR. LEDERMAN: Leder-man.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Lederman?

         19                 MR. LEDERMAN: Correct.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Can you go

         21  back to responding to my question as far as how

         22  we're going to find a happy medium here, if at all?

         23  Or is it going to wind up finally being adjudicated

         24  in the judicial system?

         25                 MR. LEDERMAN: I would dispute that
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          2  there is such a problem. Are there a couple of areas

          3  where there is possibly an over-abundance of

          4  artists? Yes, there is. But there are reasons why

          5  they're congested together like that.

          6                 If you understood the history that

          7  these people have been through, how many times

          8  they've been arrested, how much harassment they've

          9  gotten from the police -- Commissioner Benepe would

         10  have you believe that he doesn't have resources to

         11  deal with artists. When we were in front of the Met

         12  in '98, they had hundreds of officers there every

         13  day arresting us for holding up a protest sign,

         14  making a painting, for making a speech.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: That was

         16  under the former Mayor?

         17                 MR. LEDERMAN: Correct.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Correct.

         19                 MR. LEDERMAN: Correct.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And the

         21  economy is totally different than it is now?

         22                 MR. LEDERMAN: The bottom line is

         23  this: If there's no permits system, the police and

         24  the PEP officers can enforce the vending law.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay.
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          2                 MR. LEDERMAN: There's a permit

          3  system.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Yes.

          5                 MR. LEDERMAN: They're going to have

          6  to enforce the permit system.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Okay, now, so

          8  the Commissioner is saying he wants to set up the

          9  permit system and basically he expressed, and he's

         10  sitting right behind you, and I'm happy he's still

         11  here, because quite frankly, what happens quite

         12  often is after the Administration speaks, the

         13  Commissioners and Deputy Commissioners in all of the

         14  high mucky mucks of each agency they get up and they

         15  leave, and I say, where you going? Who are you

         16  leaving here to listen to the advocates and other

         17  people testify? So you know what is being said. So,

         18  I'm happy that he's here to hear what you have to

         19  say, because even though I don't know if he sat down

         20  across the table with you, but by him being here,

         21  he's --

         22                 MR. LEDERMAN: He's on my list, too,

         23  Council member. Trust me.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: He's

         25  definitely hearing what you have to say.

                                                            98

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2                 But, you know, are you willing to sit

          3  down with him to try to come up with a system that

          4  is not going to be restrictive, as far as someone's

          5  freedom of expression? Because that's what we're

          6  talking about. And have a system that I guess that

          7  would be agreed by all that is a workable system.

          8                 MR. LEDERMAN: Councilman, since 1993

          9  I met repeatedly with Commissioner Stern, with

         10  Commissioner Stern's legal staff on the same issue.

         11  I've asked Commissioner Benepe repeatedly to meet

         12  with me. He refuses. I asked him as recently as

         13  yesterday to meet with me to discuss exactly what

         14  you're saying. I've sat down with the Captain of the

         15  Central Park precinct and other precincts and said I

         16  am available to you at any time to help you deal

         17  with any problem that you perceive being caused by

         18  street art. They are not interested in ameliorating

         19  this problem. They wanted to be as glaring as

         20  possible, so that it will motivate you to create

         21  this permit, which will be a gateway to privatizing

         22  all this public space.

         23                 This concession system that

         24  Commissioner Benepe says is not going to apply to

         25  artists, I have a letter here in the New York Times,
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          2  1996, the former legal counsel to the Parks admitted

          3  in his own letter to the times, the artists' permit

          4  was intended as a precursor to an artist concession

          5  system. That's what he admitted. That's what he told

          6  me by phone when he asked me to come by his office

          7  and approve the artist permit.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Who is that?

          9  You're talking about going back when?

         10                 MR. LEDERMAN: Thomas Ruzinski.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Oh, 1996.

         12                 MR. LEDERMAN: 1996. And it's still

         13  indeed more than ever because of the economic

         14  problems the City has, their intention is to make

         15  this into an art concession system.

         16                 If a book vendor would pay $65,000 to

         17  sell used books, how much would an art gallery, or

         18  some giant, some art publisher that has a

         19  multi-million dollar business, how much might they

         20  pay to buy up all the art vending spots that the

         21  Parks Department is going to permit? I would imagine

         22  quite a bit.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.

         24                 Thank you, Mr. Chair, for now.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,
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          2  Council Member Jackson.

          3                 Council Member Gerson.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you, Mr.

          5  Chair. Good afternoon. Good to see you again.

          6  Indulge me, this exercise, if you will, either or

          7  both of you.

          8                 Assume there are a few spots among

          9  the thousands of acres of parkland which are more

         10  desirable and more popular for artist vending, and

         11  assume in those spots the demand for space exceeds

         12  the amount of space available. You even acknowledged

         13  in response to questions from my colleague, Council

         14  Member Jackson, that there are, there may be a

         15  couple of spots where, I forget your word, but where

         16  that demand may be excessive. But let's assume

         17  hypothetically that's the case and we could discuss

         18  later whether or not it is, in those spots where you

         19  have more art vendors who want to vend than anyone

         20  can reasonably say, you know, the spots can

         21  accommodate, would not some sort of a lottery system

         22  be a fairer, better way of allotment of limited

         23  space than kind of a first come first serve where

         24  those who are able to get up earlier, or get out

         25  earlier, or park their cars, or are stronger and
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          2  able to kind of muscle their way in? I mean, isn't a

          3  lottery system fairer and better than, if you will,

          4  kind of, if not survival, artistry by the fittest,

          5  or selling by the fittest?

          6                 I mean, what would be wrong if it

          7  were a truly blind lottery process, so there was no

          8  picking and choosing on the basis of content, why

          9  would you oppose that system for those areas where

         10  there isn't an excessive demand?

         11                 MR. LEDERMAN: Well, first of all, the

         12  theoretical areas where there's an excessive demand,

         13  let's take the front of the Metropolitan Museum,

         14  unquestionably the spot that the most number of

         15  artists would like to show in. Artists have shown

         16  there for 100 years, until 1998 there was no permit.

         17  When the City created the permit and we filed our

         18  lawsuit, we brought in the captain of the Central

         19  Park precinct, and the beat officer, Officer

         20  Sanchez, NYPD, assigned to the front of the Met for

         21  11 years.

         22                 Now, keep in mind, no permit, no

         23  regulation, both officials testified there was no

         24  problem being caused by the artist. The Metropolitan

         25  Museum issued a press release in '98. There is no
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          2  problem being caused by the street artist. We didn't

          3  ask for a permit.

          4                 I'm not trying to duck your question,

          5  Council member. The fact is that there is no

          6  problem, and if there is, if there was a problem, if

          7  it developed --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Times change.

          9  It could develop.

         10                 MR. LEDERMAN: If it developed, you

         11  know --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: We're seeing

         13  more vending now for obvious --

         14                 MR. LEDERMAN: It's been legal to sell

         15  art on the street since 1996 without a license. Even

         16  Commissioner Benepe said the number of street

         17  artists doubled. Let me give you the numbers. There

         18  used to be 400 of us. I'm the head of the group. Now

         19  there's about 800. It's not an army and in a City of

         20  8 million people.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Let me. Could

         22  I interject?

         23                 MR. LEDERMAN: Yes, go ahead.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Presumably

         25  because you just said that the choicest spot is this
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          2  area in front of the Met, and assuming all of your

          3  800 members would like an opportunity to vend there,

          4  shouldn't they each have the opportunity to do so

          5  through a lottery system, rather than just whoever

          6  gets there first, whoever forces their way in? What

          7  would be wrong with opening up that choice area to

          8  all of your -- clearly, we can't have all 800

          9  vendors in this area, so what is the harm. If it

         10  were done properly through the oversight of a

         11  Committee or what have you, what is -- let me

         12  rephrase it positively. Wouldn't it be beneficial to

         13  your members to have a fair blind lottery system to

         14  determine who gets a shot at the best location and

         15  maybe it's rotated around during the course of the

         16  year.

         17                 MR. LEDERMAN: Council Member, I used

         18  to live on Kings Highway in Brooklyn, and when I had

         19  to come into the City in the morning, I would

         20  deliberately walk 20 blocks in the opposite

         21  direction to get to a subway stop so that I could

         22  get my desired seat.

         23                 I didn't expect to have a reserve

         24  seat on the subway. I went to an extra effort to get

         25  the seat that I really like by the window in the
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          2  corner, that was heated. This is a public forum. The

          3  First Amendment doesn't guarantee that we will get

          4  our desired vending spot. It guarantees freedom of

          5  speech. And there is no reserved spots for

          6  leafletters. I just won a lawsuit about the steps of

          7  the United States Capitol that I can give out

          8  leaflettes on the steps to the Congressmen without a

          9  permit, and that's got to be the most secure

         10  building in the United States. And every activist in

         11  the world would probably like to give out leafletts

         12  there, but the Appeals Court said you can't make a

         13  permit even there.

         14                 What I'm suggesting is this: In the

         15  unlikely event that there were too many artists that

         16  try to show up at the Met, it still has never

         17  happened. That will be just too bad for the artists

         18  to get there late that day. They'll come early the

         19  next day. But the First Amendment Rights of those

         20  artists will be intact. And that is my concern,

         21  that's the concern of the group ARTIST, and I was

         22  just given a letter a few minutes ago, by the New

         23  York Civil Liberties Union, which I'm sure you'll

         24  have a copy of. They've come out point blank,

         25  they've said that Intro. 160 violates the First
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          2  Amendment. They didn't beat around the bush. They

          3  made it as explicit, they made it as explicit, I

          4  couldn't have written it any more directly myself,

          5  and I want to thank them for making such a clearcut

          6  statement about it.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Mr. Lederman

          8  doesn't want a reserve seat, but maybe some of your

          9  colleagues might welcome -- I mean, the First

         10  Amendment in my mind doesn't necessarily give an

         11  advantage to the strongest or the fittest or the one

         12  who could leave their families and get up there the

         13  earliest. The First Amendment may in fact be

         14  consistent with a totally blind process.

         15                 So, do you have any thoughts on what

         16  would be wrong, the lottery, what would be wrong

         17  with that?

         18                 MR. BALMUTH: First of all, if you

         19  know anything about the Metropolitan Museum, you

         20  know that there's basically unlimited number of

         21  space on either side if the museum, because you can

         22  go down the street. Just because you're not right in

         23  front of the Met. It's very simple. If you're an

         24  artist, and you want to get that first spot right by

         25  the doorway, you've got to come early. That's
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          2  simple. The Park doesn't open until 6:00 a.m., by --

          3  that's part of their rules and regulations. So,

          4  basically anyone that came before 6:00 could be

          5  issued a summons.

          6                 But that isn't the point here. The

          7  point is, you come, if the spots are all taken, then

          8  you go below 79th Street.

          9                 When we say the Metropolitan Museum,

         10  we're talking from 79th to 83rd Street, that's

         11  basically the front of the Metropolitan Museum.

         12  There's a lot of space there. Nobody that I know has

         13  gone there since the permit that absolutely couldn't

         14  get a space between those blocks. There are some

         15  people that actually choose to sell below 79th

         16  Street, there are some people that choose to sell

         17  between 79th and 80th Street. They come early to get

         18  a spot between 79th and 80th Street. They like that

         19  spot. It has nothing to do necessarily with it ever

         20  really closing.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I wasn't

         22  focused on any one spot in particular. I was

         23  focusing on any spot where more people might want to

         24  be at than can accommodate the man. But I hear your

         25  point --
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          2                 MR. BALMUTH: It goes somewhere's else

          3  basically. How many times have I gone looking for a

          4  space and I went there and somebody was in the space

          5  I wanted? I went somewhere's else.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you.

          9                 Council Member Brewer.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Very quickly,

         11  because I know there are a lot of people who want to

         12  testify.

         13                 How many people do you think are

         14  original artists or who are selling other than

         15  original art? What's the breakdown?

         16                 MR. LEDERMAN: We haven't taken a

         17  survey, but from our day-to-day experience, I would

         18  say it's about 50/50.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         20                 And regarding the -- how does it work

         21  at Grand Army Plaza? I know that you have had

         22  concerns about the book sellers; how does the

         23  integration take place between the artists and the

         24  book sellers, just in terms of space usage, for lack

         25  of a better word.
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          2                 MR. LEDERMAN: The Parks Department

          3  just recently located this book concessionaire,

          4  Serano Books, into a spot that had maybe 20 or so

          5  artists there. They talked, they had a meeting,

          6  Mitchell here personally dealt with it. There wasn't

          7  the slightest argument. There was no fight.

          8  Everybody got along. The artists are there and this

          9  vendor who had 19 tables and a kiosk, all coexisted

         10  in this spot.

         11                 This idea that it's survival of the

         12  fittest, I have to dispute with it. I've been

         13  selling on the street 41 years --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: You don't look

         15  that old.

         16                 MR. LEDERMAN: Well, thank you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And you look

         18  very fit.

         19                 MR. LEDERMAN: Well, fighting Giuliani

         20  kept me in shape. This idea that everybody is using

         21  brut force on each other to get spots, I'm not going

         22  to say that it's never happened, but basically these

         23  artists all know each other, they're all friendly

         24  with each other, they respect each other. It all

         25  works out at least as well as the rest of this City
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          2  does with all of the diverse people in it. We don't

          3  need a permit system to get everybody in New York to

          4  coexist on the subway, for example, we all somehow

          5  get on and manage to deal with each other.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: That's a

          7  little bit different. I mean, their analogies.

          8                 MR. LEDERMAN: And we, ourselves,

          9  certainly Mitchell and myself and many other people,

         10  even Larry White who is down at the other end there,

         11  have taken the responsibility when they see an

         12  artist doing something that's wrong, not simply

         13  illegal, but it's making a problem. They'll leave

         14  their stand, go over to that person politely but

         15  firmly tell them you're doing something wrong,

         16  you're making a problem for the rest of us, and 98

         17  percent of the time the person will change what

         18  they're doing.

         19                 For that two percent that's left,

         20  that's why we have police.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay. I mean,

         22  I think that the Commissioner had a lot of validity

         23  when he said that the PEP officers cannot be doing

         24  this work. That's a lot of drain on them. So, the

         25  question perhaps would be to use the other resources
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          2  in a way that was helpful. But I'm just saying,

          3  that's a real legitimate issue in today's economy

          4  with the budget crisis.

          5                 MR. LEDERMAN: We're happy to, if the

          6  City wants to encourage us further to be regulating

          7  it ourselves. We've volunteered to do it, we're

          8  anxious to do it, working with the police, working

          9  with the Commissioner, whoever.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you, Mr.

         11  Chairman.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,

         13  Council Member Brewer.

         14                 Council Member Dilan.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Mr. Chairman, I

         16  just have a few pointed questions. I've heard, this

         17  is for both members of the panel. I've heard from

         18  your responses to Council Member questions, and I

         19  guess you can answer me if you think I'm correct, or

         20  incorrect. It appears to me that yourselves and the

         21  groups that you advocate for have no problem fully

         22  complying with the general vendors code; is that

         23  correct?

         24                 MR. LEDERMAN: That's correct.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Or incorrect?
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          2                 Okay. And then as far as the

          3  permitting system is concerned, I guess could you

          4  give me, I mean it's clear that you object to it,

          5  could you give me a few clear reasons why, you know,

          6  you object to it, and anything else you may think

          7  would be helpful to this Committee.

          8                 MR. LEDERMAN: Well, I'll use myself

          9  as an example. I used to be homeless, lived on the

         10  street in a colder winter than we're in right now,

         11  selling my art. Not panhandling, just selling my

         12  art. If I can make ten or $20 in a day I could eat.

         13  I certainly wasn't in a position to go and apply to

         14  be in a lottery. I didn't have an address, so I

         15  couldn't have even filled out the application, and I

         16  certainly didn't have $25, let alone enough money to

         17  bid against other people to be able to buy a spot.

         18                 If you look around you, you can see

         19  that many of these artists are immigrants. They

         20  would be at a great disadvantage compared to someone

         21  like myself, in participating in such a bureaucratic

         22  system.

         23                 This is also because this is a free

         24  speech issue. An artist can visit from another City

         25  or another state, drive into New York as many do and
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          2  want to just show work for one day in New York City,

          3  that's their dream to set up for one day in New York

          4  City. They're not going to be able to be part of a

          5  lottery, they're not going to know about a lottery.

          6  Their rights are going to be denied to them.

          7                 And lastly, I would say this, if we

          8  lived in an ideal world, then maybe the lottery and

          9  the permit wouldn't be such a terrible thing.

         10                 But we've lived through ten years of

         11  dealing with the City government, and the Parks

         12  Department, we have an awful lot of day-to-day

         13  experiences about where they want to go with this.

         14  And it's clear to us. It's not a theory. It's not a

         15  guess. We're not hypothesizing. They basically want

         16  to more or less get rid of us and the lottery and

         17  the permit is the way that they intend to do it. And

         18  that's primarily why we're completely against it in

         19  any form, any way, or any shape.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: So you feel if

         21  this bill is passed that the Parks Department will

         22  use this as a mechanism to maybe limit the amount of

         23  artists that can sell work out in front of park

         24  space?

         25                 MR. LEDERMAN: When they had the
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          2  permit, initially they made 24 permits for the whole

          3  City, by the fifth year of the permit they had

          4  boosted that to a grand total of 78 permits for the

          5  entire City, and compare that to 4,000 hotdog

          6  vendors and you'll get a sense of how restrictive

          7  they really envision this thing as being.

          8                 And keep in mind, as you said

          9  yourself, we're not against them in forcing the

         10  vending ordinance, and we don't reject the idea that

         11  if the Parks Department feels that certain areas, a

         12  baseball field, a basketball court, a playground,

         13  should be off limits to all vending. We don't have

         14  any problem with that at all. We just don't want a

         15  permit. We're not against regulation, and we're

         16  certainly not against reasonable regulation.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER DILAN: Thank you, Mr.

         18  Chairman.

         19                 MR. BALMUTH: Okay, let me explain why

         20  I'm against the permit also. I'm sure Rob is for the

         21  same reasons. We've got to remember that this law is

         22  based on First Amendment vending, and First

         23  Amendment vending, according to Berry (phonetic),

         24  which is probably the highest case on any First

         25  Amendment vending there is in the country, basically
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          2  says that we have full First Amendment Rights no

          3  different than if we were giving away the work, no

          4  different if we were just displaying the work. So,

          5  we have to remember, newspapers would also need this

          6  type of permit if they thought that they wanted to

          7  vend near a park. And they used to vend near a park

          8  until they were harassed by the Parks Department

          9  because of our lawsuit. There used to be one right

         10  out here in front of City Hall Park. I don't see

         11  them anymore, because they harassed them. They gave

         12  them a summons. New York Times' guy defended them,

         13  and they lost, and they had to pay like a $250 fine,

         14  which they never gave the money back. My wife still

         15  owes a thousand dollar fine saying she got a summons

         16  without not having a permit, and the ECB Court

         17  refuses to give that money back.

         18                 So, this law will also affect every

         19  other type of First Amendment vendor, and regardless

         20  of what they say, if an artist was just displaying

         21  the work, there is no difference. That person will

         22  also have to have a permit. This is also a prior

         23  restraint. I don't know if you know much about prior

         24  restraint, but if you want to sell by the

         25  Metropolitan Museum, there's many artists, and I
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          2  know their field, that's the only place they can

          3  really sell, just like those people in SoHo that

          4  think that's the only place where their work will

          5  sell. And those people were applying for the

          6  permits, a lot of them boycotted the permit at

          7  first, but then they gave in and bought the permit.

          8                 Those people were getting the permit

          9  only once out of every three months, which means two

         10  out of three months they were not allowed to sell by

         11  the Metropolitan Museum. They basically were not

         12  allowed to express themselves because they didn't

         13  feel there was any other place to express

         14  themselves. It's a prior restraint, it's against the

         15  First Amendment, and it will affect all First

         16  Amendment vending, and let me mention this to you,

         17  because I've been studying vending in the City for a

         18  long time, and in the last 100 years I've studied

         19  the laws about vending, there has never been a law

         20  that specifically says that a newspaper or a

         21  periodical or a pamphlet or any other similarly

         22  First Amendment protectant (sic) materials would

         23  ever need -- ever needed a permit.

         24                 There were certain times that the

         25  specific exemption was left out, but there was never
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          2  a law that specifically said that. Now, we've been

          3  harassed now by one Mayor, actually two Mayors

          4  because it started in the Dinkins Administration, we

          5  were harassed by Giuliani, we're being harassed by

          6  Bloomberg, just by putting this law into existence,

          7  even before the federal appeal is heard, they're

          8  harassing us by just making us do this right now

          9  when the court might rule totally differently when

         10  we expect, we're wasting all our time, depending on

         11  the Federal Courts.

         12                 So, what I'm saying here is we've

         13  fought now with three Mayors, this is the first time

         14  we've actually come to the City Council, and thank

         15  God you're democrats. Thank God. Because I would

         16  really be nervous if we were sitting in front of

         17  nine republicans.

         18                 It's almost absurd for me to even

         19  think, we have to come to the City Council to defend

         20  free speech.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Mr. Balmuth, I

         22  want to thank you very much for your testimony. Mr.

         23  Lederman, as well. Thank you for your time and

         24  testimony, and have a good day.

         25                 MR. BALMUTH: Thank you.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you.

          3                 MR. LEDERMAN: We appreciate it. Thank

          4  you.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Our next three

          6  panelists, Henry Stern, Stanley Michels, and Ed

          7  Wallace.

          8                 Thank you very much, gentlemen. If

          9  you will please raise your right hand to be sworn

         10  in.

         11                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

         12  affirm to tell the truth?

         13                 MR. STERN: Yes.

         14                 MR. MICHELS: Yes.

         15                 MR. WALLACE: Yes.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Please state

         17  your name and give your testimony, please.

         18                 MR. WALLACE: My name is Edward

         19  Wallace, and by democratic process I was designated

         20  to go first. First let me just note that I'm honored

         21  to be here today as a former member of the body and

         22  probably the guy who caused this trouble in the

         23  first place in 1982, it's a special privilege to be

         24  here.

         25                 As I said, in 1982, as Council Member
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          2  at large, and a member of this, what was then a

          3  combined committee, but the Parks Committee, I was

          4  the prime sponsor, along with my colleagues and

          5  Commissioner Stern who was then Council Member at

          6  large with me, and Stanley Michels, and several

          7  others, of Intro, of an exception to the general

          8  vending law, Intro. 33, which we now seek to clarify

          9  in supporting Intro. 160.

         10                 For the sake of the First Amendment,

         11  I urge you to vote yes on Intro. 160. Let's be

         12  clear, the streets and the sidewalks and the parks

         13  belong to the people, all the people, we the people,

         14  the City and its agencies must keep them open and

         15  free without regard to the politics or viewpoint of

         16  those who would congest them.

         17                 The City on behalf of the people has

         18  the duty to the pamphleteer, the painter, and the

         19  quiet passer-by, to remain in charge, content

         20  neutral, but directing and even restricting the flow

         21  of activity on sidewalks an in parks. I introduced

         22  the original amendment to the vendor's law, and I

         23  did it with six words. It came out as six pages,

         24  because a Greenwich Village poet, David Ferguson,

         25  was being arrested under the general vendor's law.
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          2                 Sadly, my exemption spawned an

          3  imbalance in the opposite direction. Commercial book

          4  dealers block the sidewalks of midtown, and art

          5  vendors block access to our parks and museums.

          6                 A few years ago the Council wisely

          7  amended my original exemption and restored the

          8  balance between the right of the public to use the

          9  sidewalks, the right of the book peddlers to vend,

         10  and the need of the emergency services to have

         11  access to public buildings on Midtown streets. Now I

         12  hope you will do the same for our parks.

         13                 Parks are special, and Intro. 33

         14  specifically and explicitly gave to the Commissioner

         15  the authority to regulate the use of those parklands

         16  including the sidewalks. The Federal Court, and it's

         17  been said over and over again. But the Federal Court

         18  did not rule on the First Amendment. There's no

         19  First Amendment problem here, but the Federal Court

         20  misunderstood what our law tried to do in 1982 when

         21  we specifically gave the Commissioner the power.

         22                 So, I hope that you will help us out

         23  because we're no longer members, and further clarify

         24  what was intended then and what makes equal good

         25  sense today.
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          2                 But please don't vote yes for Intro.

          3  160 to clamp down on the First Amendment, or to

          4  shove some meddlesome painters into the gutter. Do

          5  it to preserve all our First Amendment rights. The

          6  standards are quite simple. Regulate only time,

          7  place and manner, be content neutral.

          8                 Intro. 160 rigorously respects those

          9  requirements. I have reviewed the decisions of the

         10  Supreme Court and the New York Court of Appeals, I

         11  am confident that by adopting Intro. 160, you will

         12  strike a blow for freedom and achieve the delicate

         13  balance of protecting everyone's access to the

         14  parks.

         15                 Thank you.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Quiet, please.

         17                 MR. MICHELS: Good afternoon. My name

         18  is Stanley Michels, I'm a former member of this body

         19  for 24 years, and now I pride myself as being a

         20  citizen of this City, and a citizen of my district.

         21  I'm very pleased to be with you, Chairman Addabbo,

         22  and to have Council Member Gerson, Council Member

         23  Brewer, Council Member Serrano, Malave-Dilan, and my

         24  successor in office, who I'm very proud of, I cavell

         25  (sic) when I see him sitting here, Bob Jackson,
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          2  because he's doing such a wonderful job, and he

          3  asked such great questions.

          4                 When we passed this law in 1982,

          5  Local Law 33, the people who supported it were the

          6  leading people in the Council in support of free

          7  speech, and it was a free speech law that we were

          8  passing. People who passed it were Ed Wallace, Carol

          9  Greitzer, Ruth Messinger, Henry Stern, Council

         10  Member Valentine, Ray Valentine, and Wendell Foster.

         11  Anybody who knows the history of these people knows

         12  that we were for free speech.

         13                 And I had an honor, that has been

         14  said before by Bob Jackson, representing the

         15  district in the City with more parks than any other

         16  district in the City, and that's true. And we care

         17  for our parks. We've done wonderful things, and we

         18  want to preserve those parks. But this is the haven.

         19  This is where people can go. You're not being

         20  harassed on the telephone, you're not being harassed

         21  on the telephone, you walk down the street, people

         22  are coming to you, you want to have some place to go

         23  where you can have some peace and quiet and enjoy

         24  yourself. So, we should have a place to go and

         25  people can have a right to go in and sell materials
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          2  that they're talking about today, which is written

          3  materials and artwork, but it should be done in such

          4  a way if not to disturb the peace and quiet the

          5  people desire when they go in a park. In a City like

          6  this you need a haven to go.

          7                 When we passed this legislation, we

          8  did have the language in there. It said they had a

          9  right, and I'll read the language to you, which I'm

         10  looking at the old law, "except that nothing given

         11  can be construed to deprive the Commissioner of the

         12  Department of Parks and Recreation of the authority

         13  to regulate the vending of written matter in a

         14  manner consistent with the purpose of the park and

         15  declare the legislative intent of this law.

         16                 All we're doing here in this 160 is

         17  adding less than a sentence. After the word

         18  "regulation" we're simply saying to a permitting

         19  system, the time and place and the manner of the

         20  vendors.

         21                 We wanted to regulate. By regulating,

         22  I don't know how you can regulate without

         23  permitting. That was the whole purpose. We assumed

         24  that we were authorizing the permitting of these

         25  vendors, and that's why I don't understand what the
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          2  big deal is and why everybody is going crazy here

          3  thinking that we're doing something that's so

          4  unusual. We want the vendors to be in the park, we

          5  want it in a nice regulated way.

          6                 Now, they're talking about the fact

          7  that it cost $25 a month. That amounts to 84 cents a

          8  day, during that month that they want to do it.

          9                 So I think that, to me, and I'm not

         10  in any way criticizing, this is a no-brainer. What

         11  we want to have here is the parks being utilized in

         12  such a way as we can enjoy it, and be consistent in

         13  the way we can enjoy it. And I thank you very much

         14  for listening to me.

         15                 MR. STERN: Well, my name is Henry

         16  Stern. I'm in an unusual position here, because in

         17  addition to have served as a Council member for nine

         18  years, from 1974 to '83, I was Parks Commissioner

         19  for 15 years, from 1983 to '90 and 1994 to 2002. So,

         20  I've had a great deal of exposure to this problem.

         21                 Judicial decisions have turned park

         22  walkways into Byzantine labyrinths, and sprawling

         23  Middle Eastern bizaars. What were supposed to be

         24  homesteadian places of natural beauty and now walled

         25  off by hundreds of people selling their wares,
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          2  spreading them over the ground, putting up easels,

          3  you can't get to see the park anymore on a nice warm

          4  day without fighting your way through this profusion

          5  and proliferation of commercial vendors, many of

          6  whom are selling things which they didn't even make

          7  themselves. They bought it like tchoskes from

          8  another merchant and they're retailers, you know,

          9  retailers of commodities.

         10                 The only relation to art is that some

         11  day years ago, maybe in another country, someone

         12  drew it.

         13                 So, when the City spends millions of

         14  dollars a year to make Central Park beautiful, to

         15  make the parks gorgeous and attractive places for

         16  human beings to consort with each other and nature

         17  and all the rest of it, you should not have to run

         18  the gauntlet of commercial vendors walking their

         19  wares in order to get into a park. And I can tell

         20  you the problem is proliferating because what

         21  started in front of the museum, Metropolitan Museum

         22  of Art, now has reached from the seventies to the

         23  nineties. I remember the day they jumped 79th Street

         24  and set up a new colony in front of the NYU

         25  Institute of Fine Arts, and from 59th Street is
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          2  going north, and west along Central Park South, and

          3  if anybody wants to, you didn't have to stay in this

          4  group, he can plant himself wherever he feels he can

          5  do the most business, and open up.

          6                 Now, it's terribly unfair to

          7  purveyors of original art, to people who are single

          8  artists, who can't get there at 6:00 in the morning,

          9  because you see the choice spots are taken time

         10  after time by the organized community.

         11                 Now, we want art. I mean when I was

         12  Commissioner we sponsored so many public art

         13  exhibits in the park because we agreed that art and

         14  sculpture enhanced a park, but there's a difference

         15  between art and the unrestricted sale of commercial

         16  objects in the name of art -- let me just say this.

         17  You're going to be sued whatever you do, because it

         18  is the position of the community here that you have

         19  no right to even pass on this subject, that it's all

         20  ordained by their mystic view of the First

         21  Amendment. You should try the Second Amendment.

         22                 Anyway, what we have here, so you

         23  might as well, as long as you're going to be sued

         24  anyway, you might as well do the right thing, and

         25  set up a reasonable structure of regulation for the
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          2  Commissioner.

          3                 Do you know what it's like when you

          4  try to walk down Wean Walk and you're surrounded by

          5  portrait painters? Or when you try to walk near the

          6  lake and you have clusters of people who are

          7  offering backrubs for $10, carrying their portable

          8  chairs. Why isn't that as artistic as some of the

          9  stuff they sell? It's ridiculous. A park is a place

         10  for public -- that's why people give their lives to

         11  parks, because they want it to be so beautiful.

         12  That's why you chose to be chairman of the Parks

         13  Committee, because you wanted to have jurisdiction

         14  over something nice.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: I requested

         16  Parks. The Speaker actually put me here.

         17                 MR. STERN: But you asked for it.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Yes.

         19                 MR. STERN: You told us before you

         20  wanted this because it was something beautiful.

         21  Well, if you don't pass this bill, you might as well

         22  have been chairing the Economic Development

         23  Committee.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: I want to thank

         25  you very much for your testimony.
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          2                 For the questions, since the time

          3  that you three gentlemen had worked on the original

          4  legislation, would you say that obviously the number

          5  of vendors have increased a little bit, drastically,

          6  thus causing the need for 160?

          7                 MR. STERN: Sky-rocketed, especially

          8  on nice days. Today it's not so bad because it's

          9  freezing, but nobody is going to the park anyway.

         10  Wait til you see a nice day, you have to fight your

         11  way in.

         12                 MR. MICHELS: When there was

         13  regulation, it was done in an orderly way. Since the

         14  regulation it's been suspended by a court, which I

         15  hope the opinion is going to be overturned, it has

         16  sky-rocketed.

         17                 MR. WALLACE: Can I just say two

         18  things? That the language in the bill that the court

         19  in our judgment misinterpreted recognized then that

         20  you needed regulation. Today the numbers of vendors

         21  have only made that need much more urgent.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you.

         23  Council Member Jackson.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you.

         25  It's very, very good to see my predecessor Stanley
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          2  Michels and we celebrated Stanley's birthday

          3  yesterday at Kugan's up in Washington Heights, and

          4  his wife had commented to me that someone said who

          5  is that person over there? And the response was that

          6  that was Stanley's replacement, and I said that,

          7  well, I'm proud of that, that I'm Stanley's

          8  replacement, because I know that in the 24 years

          9  that Stanley has served in this Council, he has been

         10  a progressive voice for the people of New York City,

         11  and especially on issues of environment, parks,

         12  housing, education, I mean his record stands high

         13  and tall for all of us to achieve. So, Stanley, I

         14  appreciate everything you have done and dedicated to

         15  the people of New York City.

         16                 MR. MICHELS: And I appreciate what

         17  you are doing.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Mr. Wallace,

         19  I did not have the opportunity to meet you, but

         20  obviously you were very, very actively involved also

         21  as a member of this esteemed body. So, let me ask

         22  then, and I don't know, Mr. Wallace, are you an

         23  attorney at law?

         24                 MR. WALLACE: Yes, I am.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: And I know
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          2  that Stanley is. And, Henry, are you an attorney at

          3  law also?

          4                 MR. STERN: Yes.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So, I have

          6  three attorneys.

          7                 MR. STERN: Yes. Mr. Wallace is the

          8  real attorney. Michels is a partial attorney, I am a

          9  nothing attorney.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Well, you

         11  heard the testimony earlier that the New York City

         12  Liberties Union basically has sided with the

         13  artists, as far as their rights, their

         14  constitutional rights to free speech, and they feel

         15  that setting up a system like this would violate

         16  their constitutional right.

         17                 Do you have any comments on that?

         18                 MR. WALLACE: Yes. First of all, you

         19  should know that the original bill was introduced at

         20  the request at the New York Civil Liberties Union.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: The original

         22  bill that you introduced.

         23                 MR. WALLACE: Yes. Second of all, the

         24  amendment that the Council did, and I was here in

         25  this seat urging an amendment with respect to
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          2  crowded Midtown streets and the book dealers who

          3  came out in front of all the shops, blocked all the

          4  sidewalk access, and at some instances were selling

          5  illegal goods, the Civil Liberties Union testified

          6  in favor of that amendment, and while I have not

          7  contacted them on this, and I'll gladly do so, I see

          8  my position as thoroughly in line with the civil

          9  liberties position on free speech, and not only

         10  under our US Constitution, but as you may know, the

         11  New York State Constitution is even broader in its

         12  protection of free speech.

         13                 But anybody who tells you that

         14  putting in this regulation has anything to do with

         15  the First Amendment, let alone infringes upon it,

         16  simply doesn't understand the law.

         17                 You can't have 100 people standing on

         18  one street corner making a speech, because there's

         19  no speech then. Likewise, you can't have 100 artists

         20  congesting the entrance to a museum and call that

         21  free speech and the First Amendment never ever has

         22  been interpreted by the Supreme Court, the New York

         23  Court and Federal Court as requiring no permitting

         24  or regulation. I think the Commissioner laid it out

         25  pretty simply.
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          2                 MR. MICHELS: I have no addendum to

          3  that answer. He just covered everything that I would

          4  have said, perfect answer.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Let me ask a

          6  question of the Commissioner.

          7                 Commissioner Stern, you know, any

          8  time that someone served as the Mayor or the

          9  Commissioner, I'm not going to say former

         10  Commissioner or former Mayor, they deserve the title

         11  for sure.

         12                 So, Commissioner, I'm going to --

         13                 MR. STERN: Very gracious, I

         14  appreciate it.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I'm going to

         16  still call you Commissioner.

         17                 MR. STERN: Everybody hear that?

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Commissioner

         19  Benepe, I hope you don't mind, but Henry Stern is

         20  still a Commissioner.

         21                 Now, Commissioner, you have sat

         22  through and heard the testimony of what was said,

         23  and Mr. Lederman said that there were several spots

         24  basically that, in someone's opinion, that may be

         25  like crowded, and other than that, other than a few,
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          2  let's say assume a half a dozen or a dozen spots,

          3  there's really no congestion Citywide except for

          4  those dozen, approximately a dozen locations, and

          5  I'm using a dozen myself, he didn't say that.

          6                 What about just regulating those

          7  dozen locations and coming up with a system for that

          8  and leaving the rest open; what's your opinion on

          9  that?

         10                 MR. STERN: Well, I don't think that

         11  would work, because then people would go to the

         12  other unregulated locations.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: But if the

         14  money is not there?

         15                 MR. STERN: They would become just as

         16  crowded.

         17                 This law, this 160 amendment, was

         18  very carefully worked out to provide the maximum

         19  protection and safety for the people, the ordinary

         20  people who want to use the park, and the minimal

         21  intrusion on the commercial activities of the

         22  artists, and we've licensed, given permits to new

         23  categories of artists like portrait painters,

         24  because we think they add something to the park when

         25  they are there in moderation.
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          2                 But you can't tie up the PEP workers

          3  to these issues. Everything is very contentious,

          4  everything is fought over, everything is videotaped,

          5  everything is litigated. They act and their

          6  literature believes, and I've seen it, some of the

          7  leadership here believes they are in Nazi Germany,

          8  and they depict the Mayor and public officials,

          9  fascists, brown church, Hitler mustaches and so on.

         10  I feel this is so far from reality that it just sort

         11  of chills the air and it discourages people from

         12  public service.

         13                 There is no fascism here. All we want

         14  is for people to be able to go to the -- when they

         15  want to go to the park, that they see grass and

         16  trees; is that too harsh?

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I don't think

         18  so.

         19                 But let me ask you a question. One

         20  way or the other I think that you said or someone

         21  else said that this matter is going to be litigated

         22  one way or the other, whether we don't decide or we

         23  decide it. So, why should we touch it at all if, in

         24  fact, it's going to be litigated and adjudicated by

         25  the court?
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          2                 MR. STERN: If you don't decide it, if

          3  you don't pass the bill, it won't be litigated

          4  because there will be no legislation or regulation,

          5  people will do whatever they want. The numbers will

          6  increase as time goes by, and every time you want to

          7  go to a park, you will be surrounded by a Chinese

          8  wall, by an army of phalanx, you know, merchants,

          9  selling their wares, and you'll have to clamber

         10  through it to get into the park. It's simply not

         11  right, the City built these parks in the 1850s

         12  through the course of many millions of dollars even

         13  then so that people could see something beautiful.

         14  Now in the Year 2003, those beautiful vistas have

         15  been taken away from them, and they've been turned

         16  into, as I wrote here Byzantine labyrinths and

         17  sprawling Middle Eastern bizaars. If you want to go

         18  to a Middle Eastern bizaar, go to the Middle East.

         19                 MR. MICHELS: Okay, can I answer that

         20  as a lawyer?

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Sure.

         22                 MR. MICHELS: What you'll be left with

         23  is a misinterpretation of the law as we wrote it

         24  back in 1982.

         25                 You may not remember, but last year I

                                                            135

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  had changed the law on noise control, because the

          3  courts held that the law as it existed, saying it

          4  could not have unnecessary noise, was wrong, and

          5  they were right, what constitutes unnecessary noise.

          6  So, we changed it to unreasonable law, unreasonable

          7  noise, that was upheld.

          8                 So, you have to clarify the law to

          9  the best of your ability to make sure that it's

         10  interpreted correctly.

         11                 Right now I disagree with the courts,

         12  but they misinterpreted. It's on appeal. Let's give

         13  it the correct interpretation and let's see what

         14  happens from there.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: So, should we

         16  postpone until we get a decision from the Appellate

         17  Division?

         18                 MR. MICHELS: No, no, no.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: I want to

         20  take the easy road out.

         21                 MR. MICHELS: It's not the easy road.

         22  The easy road is the interpretation as it originally

         23  intended, that it was supposed to be regulated. By

         24  regulation we meant by using permits.

         25                 MR. WALLACE: Can I just add to that,

                                                            136

          1  COMMITTEE ON PARKS AND RECREATION

          2  in particular your last question?

          3                 MR. MICHELS: Sure.

          4                 MR. WALLACE: We were all proud to be

          5  members of this body, but the body you're a member

          6  of is a much more powerful and responsible body

          7  given its powers over land use and other things.

          8                 I think the question you just asked,

          9  which I fully appreciate, why it would be nice to

         10  let the Court decide; first of all, abdicates the

         11  responsibility and power of this body to control

         12  those things, which falls directly under the public

         13  health, welfare, police powers that the Charter

         14  gives to you. And with all due respect to the

         15  courts, where I sometimes do appear, I think it is a

         16  better democracy, when the legislative body, which

         17  is elected to represent the people, make this

         18  decision, however unruly the deliberation gets, at

         19  the end of the day you decide there's clarity and

         20  the people's will is enacted directly.

         21                 When you have to refer to the courts,

         22  which obviously are the protection at the end of the

         23  day when somehow the laws don't work right, so be

         24  it. But I would urge you, as a prerogative of this

         25  body, frankly, in defense of what this body did with
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          2  your predecessors to step up and clarify what was

          3  done.

          4                 We're not breaking any new ground

          5  here, by the way, we're simply putting more words,

          6  so that the next judge who reads this, or the last

          7  judge who read it, understands what we meant and

          8  what I hope you will mean to.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Mr. Wallace

         10  has indicated, I don't even know you but Stanley has

         11  high regards for you, then I have high regards for

         12  you.

         13                 MR. WALLACE: Well, Henry and I both

         14  had the privilege of representing your district with

         15  Stan because we were at large members.

         16                 MR. MICHELS: They were Council

         17  members at large.

         18                 MR. WALLACE: So, we know your

         19  district, Council member.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Good. Good.

         21                 And I tend to agree with you, lead it

         22  to the legislative body to do, but I remember going

         23  back in 1990 with CFE versus the State of New York,

         24  in which I'm a lead plaintiff, the legislative body

         25  of the State of New York failed to act to provide
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          2  enough money for us to educate our children, and the

          3  lawsuit had to be brought almost ten years ago and

          4  cost the parties about $18 million, and it's still

          5  not over, so sometimes you do have to take a

          6  judicial route.

          7                 MR. WALLACE: Absolutely, and the

          8  courts are there to protect where the legislature

          9  failed.

         10                 Here I think the legislature of the

         11  Council acted and the Court failed to understand

         12  what our words meant, and we would ask you to

         13  clarify it.

         14                 MR. MICHELS: And the reason you

         15  brought that lawsuit is because the legislature of

         16  the City of New York did not act properly.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON: Thank you,

         18  both. Thank all three of you for giving us your

         19  opinion and the history because that's very, very

         20  important, about how we have to decide. So, thank

         21  you very much.

         22                 MR. STERN: It's a great pleasure for

         23  us to be here, really 2003, 21 years after --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: We appreciate

         25  it. You're always welcome.
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          2                 Council Member Gerson.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And does it

          4  look the same?

          5                 MR. STERN: That's what I was saying,

          6  we all look the same.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: This is, Mr.

          8  Chair, truly an august and most distinguished panel,

          9  so we can't let them go too soon, but we can't

         10  protract them too long either.

         11                 Let me just ask one question, and do

         12  any of you have any advice as to how any regulatory

         13  system should be crafted to assure that it is as

         14  narrow as possible, given that its subject matter

         15  doesn't include protected material, to assure that

         16  we can avoid some of the concerns that you heard

         17  today, and we've all heard that a permit system

         18  could be abused by future administrations, you know,

         19  which could pick and choose to assure, you know, and

         20  to avoid any unfairness to the struggling new

         21  artists who want to get themselves started. Any

         22  advice, given the fact that you feel we do need to

         23  have regulations for all the reasons you testified

         24  and you envision a permitting system, any advice as

         25  to how that permitting system or that regulatory
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          2  system should be crafted or implemented to avoid

          3  some of the problems, potential trouble spots we're

          4  talking about?

          5                 MR. MICHELS: Obviously, any

          6  permitting that has to be content neutral, has to

          7  protect the right of free speech, and not be based

          8  upon the individuals applying, but just the

          9  availability of the space, first come first served,

         10  and done in a way that the individual who gets the

         11  permit is the one that it's not a corporation,

         12  that's it's not transferrable, that it's principles

         13  only so it cannot be used for commercial purposes,

         14  other than any individual who is asking for the

         15  permit. That's important to us.

         16                 MR. STERN: Yes, I think so. I think

         17  that's right. I think also that I'm certain that in

         18  preparation of these regulations, the Commissioner,

         19  Commissioner Benepe will consult with the Council,

         20  particularly when we're talking about geographic

         21  areas within the Council member's district. I think

         22  there will be a particular opportunity for the

         23  elected officials to interact with the Commissioner.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER MICHELS: Determine

         25  where --
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          2                 MR. STERN: Yes, it will really be

          3  fine. And you will have as a result, more

          4  attractive, cleaner parks, and fairer opportunities

          5  for artists to display their own words. It's just

          6  going to be good.

          7                 And I predict if you pass this law,

          8  they will sue and we will win.

          9                 MR. WALLACE: Could I just, not to

         10  belabor it, but earlier I understood your question

         11  about, you know, fixing places rather fixing a

         12  lottery. I think you need to do both.

         13                 MR. MICHELS: Right.

         14                 MR. WALLACE: Obviously there have to

         15  be specific places, and then within that the

         16  lottery, a blind lottery, a content neutral lottery

         17  will determine who can use what space, but without

         18  one nor the other I think you won't have solved the

         19  problem. And you may not have been fair, the blind

         20  lottery ensures an absolute rigorous fairness, the

         21  place location which is well within the power of the

         22  Parks Department or the City as a whole, time, place

         23  and manner, that place restriction is clearly within

         24  the purview of the parks, I think you have both, and

         25  then all of Stanley's cautions are absolutely right.
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          2  You want to help the individual not create or spawn

          3  a new business, which, frankly, was the error of my

          4  ways in 1982, we created a business rather than

          5  liberated a poet.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I guess that

          7  implies that in those spots where there is no

          8  excessive demand, there would in effect be no need

          9  for a lottery, or the lottery would just be

         10  proforma, since anyone who wanted to go there would

         11  be able to.

         12                 MR. MICHELS: Correct.

         13                 MR. WALLACE: Well, no, I don't agree

         14  with that. And candidly, I don't agree with the

         15  Commissioner when he said you should be able to

         16  display your art anywhere. Those parks are for

         17  everybody, and candidly, if I want to go out and

         18  show my greatest family portrait on and take up a

         19  park bench, I shouldn't be allowed to do it. Now, if

         20  there's nobody else to sit on the bench, fine.

         21  There's going to be no regulation, no enforcement.

         22  But I think you need a regulatory scheme that says

         23  first and foremost there's a social policy

         24  legitimately that says those parks are for the

         25  people to use as parks. Incidently to that use there
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          2  is permission to bring artworks and other things in

          3  to sell, and as long as you don't treat the art any

          4  worse than you treat the hotdog, it comes under a

          5  vendor scheme. Now, here where you're going way

          6  farther and treating the art much better than the

          7  hotdog, and therefore you're well within your First

          8  Amendment --

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: I guess I was

         10  directing my question to those areas which would say

         11  art vending is permissible.

         12                 MR. WALLACE: Maybe I misunderstood.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Okay, thank

         14  you very much.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you.

         16                 Council Member Brewer, for the last

         17  question.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Nice to see

         19  all three of you. I wish I had a camera. Pretty

         20  wild, if you really want to know the truth.

         21                 My question is, with the fact that

         22  took place after your bill, how did the process work

         23  at that time? Was there the same kind of outcry? Was

         24  there any kind of discussion? What was the

         25  discussion at that time?
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          2                 MR. WALLACE: Yes, when we amended --

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I was there

          4  but I don't remember it.

          5                 MR. WALLACE: When you amended my old

          6  law the first time to deal with the Midtown crisis,

          7  in the guise of being poets and book peddlers, a lot

          8  of commercial vendors showed up in vast numbers to

          9  protest.

         10                 Now, what was interesting about the

         11  testimony is that you had, for example, and this was

         12  written about in the papers, an author going in to

         13  see her publisher at Rockefeller Center, only to be

         14  able to buy her book on a table that had not yet

         15  been published.

         16                 You had another witness come and

         17  testify that they had triggered off the alarm at

         18  Barnes and Noble with a book they bought on the

         19  sidewalk before walking into the store.

         20                 So, there were different kinds of

         21  problems. There were clearly illegalities and stolen

         22  goods being sold.

         23                 In addition, you had such congested

         24  sidewalks on Fifth Avenue, the fire safety equipment

         25  couldn't get into a building if it were burning. You
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          2  have some of that here, by the way, with the museum,

          3  but you have other values that add to the importance

          4  of this, which is the nature of parks and the need

          5  to keep those parks for the recreational scenic

          6  purposes they're there. But in terms of opposition

          7  you had it all, and in the end of the day I think

          8  the system is working more or less well.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Thank you, Mr.

         10  Chairman.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Thank you,

         12  Council Member Brewer.

         13                 Gentlemen, it's been a privilege to

         14  have you here, and I appreciate your time and

         15  testimony today.

         16                 MR. MICHELS: Our privilege.

         17                 MR. WALLACE: It's our privilege.

         18                 MR. STERN: Thank you for having us.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: My pleasure.

         20  Thank you.

         21                 Our next panel will be Mark Nilsen

         22  and Lawrence White.

         23                 Ladies and gentlemen, we still do

         24  have a large number of those to give testimony. We

         25  will try and get through everyone. If somebody is in
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          2  the audience who wants to give testimony but may not

          3  be able to wait around, we will accept their written

          4  testimony, and it will be part of the record. So, if

          5  anybody wants to hand in their testimony, written

          6  testimony, we will definitely make it part of the

          7  record.

          8                 Gentlemen, will you please raise your

          9  right hand to be sworn in, please?

         10                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Do you swear or

         11  affirm to tell the truth?

         12                 MR. WHITE: We do.

         13                 COUNSEL TO COMMITTEE: Please state

         14  your name.

         15                 MR. WHITE: I'm Lawrence White.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON ADDABBO: Please give your

         17  testimony.

         18                 MR. WHITE: My name is Lawrence White.

         19  First of all, let me greet the Counsel, Mr.

         20  Chairman, the Commissioner, the gallery, artists, I

         21  am an original artist, I have a master of fine arts

         22  degree. I have been a professional artist and

         23  photographer for 30 years, and I have been

         24  displaying my work in public in New York City for

         25  the last ten years.
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          2                 I have found that it has profoundly

          3  changed my life, and has allowed me a much better

          4  artistic career.

          5                 I had some prepared statements, but

          6  I'd like to cut from that and go right to the

          7  question of what is art? Now, the courts have

          8  defined that as being photography, painting,

          9  sculpture, the traditional forms of art, and crafts

         10  at times may qualify as well. But fine art always

         11  qualifies. So, who is an artist?

         12                 Well, this is one of my original

         13  photographs here. It's a photograph of a young

         14  dancer on the Staten Island Ferry, with the skyline

         15  of Manhattan behind her.

         16                 In the corner I have signed my work,

         17  as all original artists do, and beneath it I have

         18  put my copyright sign with the year that the

         19  copyright was enacted.

         20                 This is my veterans card, a driver's

         21  license, a veterans card, a passport, all of these

         22  identify who I am. That photograph has my name on

         23  it. Now you know what is art, and you know who is an

         24  artist. All without a permit. Now, that photograph

         25  when I sell it. Anybody can ask me for my ID, and I
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          2  can prove who I am and I own that copyright,

          3  therefore I qualify under the First Amendment.

          4                 However, if that photograph was to

          5  show up on somebody else's table, I want to be

          6  assured that they have the right of that copyright

          7  to sell.

          8                 Our issues as original artists, come

          9  with not only our rights, but our copyrights as

  well.
